PUBLISH YOUR PLANS:

The Disclosures Needed to **Support a Managed Decline** of Oil and Gas Production and an Informed Energy Transition

Publish What You Pay - United States June 2023

Publish What You Pay United States



TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	4
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
What is climate risk?	6
Why focus on the oil and gas industry?	7
The way forward	8
INTRODUCTION	9
Citizens of petroleum-rich and petroleum-dependent countries	10
Policymakers	11
Investors	11
Handbook user guide	12
SECTION 1: THE ROLE OF OIL AND GAS IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION	13
BOX 1: What is the carbon budget?	14
Implications of phasing out oil and gas	14
Growing consensus that oil and gas demand will fall	15
SECTION 2: OIL AND GAS COMPANY VALUATIONS	17
Oil company valuations are heavily based on the viability of future reserves	18
BOX 2: What are oil and gas reserves?	19
Current valuations of publicly-traded oil and gas companies do not reflect	
energy transition risks	20
Companies are not fully accounting for ARO liabilities	21
BOX 3: What are asset retirement obligations?	22
SECTION 3: FINANCIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION PLANS	23
BOX 4: What are stranded assets?	24
BOX 5: What is a project?	25
The broader financial implications of stranded assets	26
Risk of carbon lock-in	26



SECTION 4: GREATER DISCLOSURE IS NEEDED FROM THE OIL AND GAS SECTOR	27
BOX 6: What are offsets, and why are they problematic?	29
Climate commitments are not climate plans	29
Net zero emission goals often lack meaningful data to measure progress	30
BOX 7: What are Scope 1, 2, and 3 GHG emissions?	31
Reliance on emissions mitigation technologies should be rigorously scrutinized	31
BOX 8: What is greenwashing and why does it matter?	32
SECTION 5: ROLE OF REGULATORS AND STANDARD-SETTERS	33
Voluntary approaches to climate risk reporting	34
Mandatory legal and regulatory frameworks	36
SECTION 6: CRITICAL INFORMATION THE OIL AND GAS SECTOR MUST BE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE	38
Recommendation 1: Transition plans	39
Recommendation 2: Oil and gas reserves information	40
Recommendation 3: Emissions embedded in reserves	41
Recommendation 4: GHG emissions on a project-level basis	42
Recommendation 5: Critical financial assumptions and estimate	43
Recommendation 6: Project break-even prices	45
Recommendation 7: Price sensitivity analysis	46
CONCLUSION	47
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	49
ABOUT PWYP-US	49

FOREWORD



"Publish Your Plans" lands as a brilliantly timed addition to global efforts to hold the fossil fuel sector to account. The measures set out in this handbook provide essential new direction, critical in the struggle to make sure global society can navigate the complexity of the energy transition, in both an equitable and secure way. I encourage policymakers - all of whom should be focused on how human society can survive the climate crisis and build a world that is more prosperous, secure, and clean - to read this handbook and to act. Nothing less than our collective future may depend on it.

Simon Taylor, co-founder & Director, Global Witness, & co-founder of the Publish What You Pay Campaign.



"The most urgent task on planet earth is rapidly phasing out the use of fossil fuels. The oil and gas industry has done all that they can to prolong their business model, at the cost of a workable earth; we need concrete and clear plans for moving on. Now."

Bill McKibben, Author, Educator, Environmentalist and founder of 350.org and ThirdAct. org



"The fossil fuel industry has been ignoring the negative impacts that oil and gas extraction has caused to the people and the planet especially the world's poorest and most vulnerable communities. These companies must be held accountable through providing information to the people on their plans to support a just energy transition. The handbook will support our struggles as environmental activists to make our demands heard and acted upon."

Evelyn Acham, Climate justice activist from Kampala, Uganda, Founder of +1tree, Co-Founder of Climate Justice for Healthy Communities (CJHC)



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

There is a global consensus among policymakers, scientists, financial institutions, and market regulators that the physical manifestations of climate change will devastate communities, ecosystems, and economies. As the global temperature increases, droughts, storms, heat waves, and other extreme weather phenomena will become more frequent and severe, causing the associated costs – both environmentally and financially – to continue to rise and compound.

Fossil fuel production is the leading contributor of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, which is speeding up global warming. Countries around the world must prioritize phasing out fossil fuel production as we navigate the path towards limiting global warming. The transition to a low-carbon economy has begun and will have sweeping impacts on nearly every corner of the global economy as future regulations and changes in consumer demand impact how energy is sourced and used. It is essential that action be taken now to steward an orderly and well-managed energy transition.

Despite the urgent need to decarbonize, critical information about how oil and gas companies are planning for the energy transition and making decisions about which projects to develop is limited. This means stakeholders like policymakers, citizens in petroleum-rich countries, advocates and investors are navigating the energy transition without the necessary disclosures needed to prepare effectively for a well-managed energy transition that benefits everyone. This handbook addresses this information gap and identifies key categories of information oil and gas companies must disclose that are essential for understanding, assessing, and managing climate risk specific to the oil and gas sector.



What is climate risk?

Climate-related financial risk, or climate risk, refers to the potential negative impacts of climate change on businesses, investments, and financial markets. These include physical risks, such as damage to assets from extreme weather events; transition risks, such as policy changes and shifts in market demand towards low-carbon alternatives; and liability risks, such as lawsuits and legal action related to environmental damage. These risks can lead to



Climate risk is shared globally, leaving the vast majority of companies across all sectors vulnerable to varying degrees of risk. reduced profitability, stranded assets (described in Box 4), and reputational damage, among other consequences. Climate risk impacts every sector of the economy and demands a coordinated and widespread response.

Effective climate-related financial risk management involves identifying and assessing climate risks, integrating them into business strategies and decision-making processes, and disclosing relevant information to stakeholders about the anticipated financial impacts and how the company plans to mitigate them. By proactively managing climate risks, businesses and investors can reduce their exposure to potential financial losses and contribute to a more sustainable and resilient global economy. Climate risk is shared globally, leaving the vast majority of companies across all sectors vulnerable to varying degrees of risk. These risks may manifest as physical disruptions such as rising sea levels and severe weather that damages infrastructure, increased operating costs, and heightened compliance liabilities as regulatory ecosystems evolve.

The transition to a low-carbon economy is already underway in energy markets and will result in lower demand for fossil fuels as renewable energy sources become cheaper and more readily accessible; however, this transition is not happening quickly enough to lessen or prevent significant climate-related damage.¹ Based on the latest forecasting about the impacts of global warming and the necessity of decarbonizing, all companies, especially those in the oil and gas sector, must prepare for major market disruptions. This poses enormous risks to all those financially entwined with oil and gas companies, including shareholders, communities impacted by extraction, and governments heavily dependent on fossil fuel revenues.

The disclosures recommended by this handbook will enable a broad spectrum of stakeholders to examine how current practices – even those marketed as environmental initiatives – delay meaningful progress and distract from ongoing reckless behavior. Importantly, this handbook also opens the door for dialogue on important new policy decisions.



Why focus on the oil and gas industry?

The fossil fuel industry's response to the climate crisis has so far been characterized by intransigence and deception.² Despite the urgency of the climate crisis, and the need to phase out heavily polluting oil and gas production, the industry plans to expand production over the next decades. These plans are fundamentally incompatible with the energy transition and greater disclosure is necessary to allow stakeholders to scrutinize companies' decision-making.

In response, regulators around the world have started working on new laws and regulations to require companies to disclose more information relating to climate-related financial risk. In the absence of such rules, global standard-setting bodies, like the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), have developed new guidance for companies on the types of information they should voluntarily disclose. But while these efforts are evidence of some movement in the right direction, detailed, meaningful reporting by companies is not happening on the scale or pace the current crisis requires. Further, regulators are not looking at oil and gas climate-related risks specifically, yet the oil and gas sector presents particular challenges with respect to climate risk, so sector-specific disclosure rules are needed to address these challenges.

This fundamental information gap must be addressed. Without meaningful, comprehensive, and standardized reporting available to scrutinize oil and gas companies' planning and decision-making, a wide variety of stakeholders face significant challenges in being able to play their role in supporting a well-managed energy transition. Beyond the need for greater disclosure, the information that is disclosed must be appropriately disaggregated to enable citizens and policymakers to better assess risk at a national or local level, and to better understand the potential impacts and benefits of new projects that are being developed. At the moment, climate-related risk information is typically disclosed on a globally aggregated level, or at a company-wide level, which is not useful to all stakeholders.

Citizens in resource-rich areas, civil society, policymakers, and shareholders are currently unable to determine the risks they face from the information that oil and gas companies currently publish, and more detail is needed to adequately prepare for an energy future that does not repeat the same governance mistakes that have plagued extractive industry operations for decades.

The industry's response has largely focused on aspirational marketing rather than good-faith efforts to prepare for a managed decline of fossil fuel production.³ Though net zero pledges and other climate-related commitments are on the rise, "most companies still do not appear to be including the financial impacts of such commitments, or indeed climate change risks, in their financial statements," according to an analysis by Carbon Tracker.⁴ Given the role of emissions from the oil and gas sector in driving global warming, there is no question that the energy transition will mean a wholesale transformation of the sector. For oil and gas companies, the reality is that "their business model fundamentally depends on [future] emissions being released."⁵ The ability of market participants, regulators, and the public to effectively measure and manage these unprecedented risks, however, is hindered by the lack of information from corporations about climate-related financial risk and their plans to address these risks.



To address this information asymmetry, the Publish Your Plans handbook describes specific disclosures that the oil and gas sector⁶ should be required to disclose about its climaterelated financial risks⁷ to adequately inform a well-managed energy transition. Our analysis concludes that the following are the disclosures that provide the most meaningful transparency and should therefore be the biggest priorities for disclosure requirements. In particular, oil and gas companies should disclose:

- Detailed information about transition plans;
- Information on oil and gas reserves, including emissions embedded in reserves;
- Data about their GHG emissions on a project-level basis;
- Critical financial assumptions and estimates underpinning financial reporting and accounting, including information on asset retirement obligations and impairment testing;
- Project break-even prices, or the commodity price at which a project is no longer profitable; and
- An analysis of price sensitivity for reserve valuations under different scenarios.

Publish What You Pay-United States (PWYP-US) and its allies urge oil and gas companies to disclose this information and urge investors and other stakeholders to demand greater transparency from them. We also encourage regulators and standard-setters around the world to integrate these sector-specific disclosures into their requirements and to facilitate the emergence of harmonized and comprehensive oil and gas climate risk disclosures.

For more information about these disclosures and their value to investors and policymakers, please see Section 6.

The industry's response has largely focused on aspirational marketing rather than good-faith efforts to prepare for a managed decline of fossil fuel production.





INTRODUCTION

The Publish Your Plans handbook explains why greater transparency from oil and gas companies is necessary for stakeholders to steward a well-managed energy transition. The handbook identifies key categories of information that are essential for understanding, assessing, and managing climate risk specific to the oil and gas sector and provides a primer on the current state of disclosure.

Climate change poses a significant risk to our planet, but exactly how and when climate events will manifest is much harder to pinpoint. Energy markets, currently saturated by fossil fuels, will face risks to infrastructure and price volatilities in a dramatically changing landscape. While energy markets are notoriously unpredictable in the short-term, even under the best of circumstances, recent disruptions have not been attributed to climate policy:⁸ rather, events such as the Russian invasion of Ukraine illustrate how geopolitical risk can exacerbate climate risk and add to unpredictability in energy markets.⁹ It is also important to note that the oil and gas sector has huge influence over the global economy. $^{\rm 10}$

Climate risk is not the only kind of risk to consider when approaching stakeholders, policymakers, investors, and financial institutions - in fact, climate risk compounds with other risk factors and enhances the urgency of action. Energy is fundamental to national security, and renewable energy sources can bolster market and political stability by allowing governments more control over domestic energy production. For example, the war in Ukraine's widespread impacts on price and economic stability has reinforced the need for a rapid transition away from the dependence on fossil fuels and the need to diversify energy supply sources as a means of increasing energy security.

In the context of such immense transition and uncertainty, transparency is a powerful tool for a wide range of stakeholders. To illustrate the value of these disclosures, this handbook focuses on four broad classes of stakeholders: resource-rich communities, policymakers, investors, and advocates; however, it is important to note that this list is not exhaustive and does not fully capture the needs and perspectives of everyone who will be impacted by climate change.

Energy is fundamental to national security, and renewable energy sources can bolster market and political stability by allowing governments more control over domestic energy production.

CITIZENS OF PETROLEUM-RICH AND PETROLEUM-DEPENDENT COUNTRIES

With the right level of detail and disaggregated data. climate risk disclosures can be valuable sources of information for communities that are impacted, or may be impacted, by extraction. They can inform citizens of the economics behind the decision for specific projects to go forward, or the ability of a project to operate within the constraints of the carbon budget. Citizens also must understand the assumptions underpinning economic planning and policymaking in fossil fuel rich countries. For example, if a government has incurred debt based on the assumption that the domestic oil industry will generate significant government revenues for the next 20 years, what happens if domestic oil and gas assets are stranded early? How will that revenue gap be filled? Likely, citizens will pay the price for risky, oilbacked unsustainable economic planning. Additionally, the failure to plan adequately for the energy transition will lead to long-term oil and gas contracts lock-in, reducing the ability to transition to low-carbon energy and economic systems, and increasing the risks of communities being left behind.

This is especially important as the revenues at stake are often significant. According to Carbon Tracker, the top 40 most fossil fuel-dependent countries could see a drop of 51 percent in government oil and gas revenues in a shift to a low-carbon economy in the next two decades.¹¹ Of the nineteen most vulnerable countries, ten are ranked as "low" on the UN Human Development Index.¹² The vulnerability of these countries' economic stability has implications for their national energy security, political stability, and future economic prospects. Destabilizing any one of these can lead to drastic decreases in a government's ability to provide for its people.

Citizens have a fundamental right to know the basis for their government's economic decisions and the tradeoff between future revenues and climate impacts. With greater climate risk disclosures, citizens can play a critical role in holding companies and governments accountable for their actions and advocating for more ambitious climate policies and regulations. By participating in public hearings, submitting comments on proposed regulations, and supporting grassroots movements for climate justice, citizens can help create the political pressure needed to accelerate the transition to a low-carbon economy.

POLICYMAKERS

Policymakers charged with making decisions about their country's energy future need adequate information to assess whether or not oil and gas companies are making sound decisions in determining which oil and gas projects will be developed. Climate risk disclosures for the oil and gas sector can be incredibly useful for financial planning by governments in countries that have historically been dependent on fossil fuel revenues. For instance, national oil company transparency is important not only for a better understanding of current public financial management and oil sector budgets, but also to better understand how much public revenue will continue to be invested in the oil sector into the future. This handbook also prepares policymakers to understand the risk this poses for domestic economic security.

As policymakers grapple with securing their energy needs, there are many other considerations that are informed by oil and gas companies' planning for the energy transition. Given the wide-ranging impacts of decreasing society's reliance on fossil fuels, policymakers also need to prepare for the implications on employment, the infrastructure needed to facilitate low-carbon energy sources, and the cost of returning oil and gas projects to their original state.

INVESTORS

Investors are entitled to information that will impact the value of their investments. Without clear, reliable, and comparable information about how oil and gas companies plan to phase out fossil fuel production and transition to cleaner energy sources, investors may not be able to accurately assess the long-term viability of these companies. ¹³ As a result, investors risk inadequately allocating capital and experiencing lower returns than they would if they had adequate access to information on climate risks. Uncertainty over climate risks can also lead to lower investor confidence and potentially higher costs of capital for oil and gas companies. Further, investors face the opportunity cost of leaving their money invested in risky projects when it could be put to use in investments that are not only more secure but are better aligned with their risk tolerance so that a more efficient allocation of capital can help facilitate a well-managed energy transition.

Ultimately, investors are best-placed to decide what information they need to prudently allocate capital, and due to prior consensus that oil and gas investments were stable long-term choices,

22

As policymakers grapple with securing their energy needs, there are many other considerations that are informed by oil and gas companies' planning for the energy transition. institutions ranging from universities to states and pension funds are among the key actors managing oil investments. This requires us to broaden our understanding of an investor to a huge proportion of the population that is passively connected to these investments through retirement/pension funds or education.

HANDBOOK USER GUIDE

Although the disclosures recommended by this handbook are relevant to all stakeholders, this handbook is primarily written for advocates and activists. These disclosures were initially developed by mainly US-based organizations and US-based staff of international organizations,¹⁴ but they should be considered globally relevant.

This handbook introduces and clarifies the concepts that are necessary for stakeholders to contextualize the disclosures. This is essential because it empowers actors from varying jurisdictions and levels of power to apply the tools of transparency in their respective circumstances. Additionally, this allows advocates to tailor arguments for engagement with different stakeholders such as investors and policymakers, while providing a comprehensive resource for citizens seeking to understand the risks they face.

This handbook prioritizes the disclosures that are necessary for a just transition. Some of these items are currently being considered by regulators while others will need to be brought to the forefront of policy discussion through targeted and informed engagement. This handbook is designed to equip advocates with the tools needed to shape regulations in major capital markets as well as places where climaterelated financial risk disclosures are being developed. The recommended list of disclosures can also be used as the basis for advocacy campaigns with policymakers or regulators to require standardized climate-related financial risk disclosures for the oil and gas sector. To support this advocacy, this handbook can be used as a guick reference for drafting advocacy materials and for briefing partners and policymakers.

The list of recommended disclosures can also be used to inform direct and indirect engagement with companies, their shareholders, and industry reporting standard-setters. As an example, the need for specific information on a company's transition plans or for projectspecific information could be the basis for a shareholder advocacy proposal or other type of direct-action targeting companies.

Ultimately, the Publish Your Plans handbook provides a transparency lens for key climate transition policy issues, allowing users to scrutinize relevant corporate actions and policies and ask the right questions to better understand how oil and gas companies are addressing climate risks.

The top 40 most fossil-fuel dependent countries could see a drop of 51 percent in government oil and gas revenues in a shift to a low-carbon economy in the next two decades. – Carbon Tracker



SECTION 1: THE ROLE OF OIL AND GAS IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION

Fossil fuel combustion is the primary cause of anthropogenic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, which trap heat on Earth's surface and lead to the gradual heating of the planet. Climate scientists estimate that since the Industrial Revolution of the mid-nineteenth century, the Earth has warmed by an average of 1.1°C, as a result of human activity.¹⁵ Phasing out oil and gas while maintaining energy supplies requires reallocation of resources, such as government investment and infrastructure, and low-carbon renewable technologies are poised to fill the gap. The entrenched interests of oil and gas companies, however, continue to delay and stall this much-needed decline in oil and gas production.

In December 2015, 196 countries around the world adopted the Paris Agreement, which aims to limit global temperature rise to "well-below" 2°C and ideally to 1.5°C.¹⁶ This half of a degree Celsius is critical. At global warming of 1.5°C, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) warns of rising sea levels, increased flooding, more frequent and severe storms and extreme heat waves, which threaten the

ability for entire ecosystems to sustain life. At 2°C warming, some of these impacts could be twice as severe.¹⁷ The urgent need to limit GHG emissions in order to avoid the worst impacts

of climate change has generated the concept of the carbon budget – a global accounting of emissions that keeps track of how emissions are allocated.

WHAT IS THE CARBON BUDGET?

The carbon budget refers to "the maximum amount of cumulative net global anthropogenic CO2 emissions that would result in limiting global warming to a given level with a given probability"¹⁸ and represents the finite amount of GHG emissions that can be released into he atmosphere without leading to the catastrophic impacts associated with increased global warming. Carbon budgets are "based on the fact that the amount of warming that will poccur can be approximated by total – that is, cumulative – CO2 emissions."¹⁹

For policymakers and companies, the carbon budget is a valuable framework for setting targets and tracking global progress towards limiting global warming. It is also a useful metric for estimating the impact of future fossil fuel projects, both individually and collectively.

The IPCC estimates that the world has around 500 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (GtCO2) remaining in the 1.5°C budget for a 50 percent avoidance chance.²⁰ According to the Global Carbon Project, we will reach the allowable carbon budget under a 1.5°C scenario in 9 years, or a 2°C scenario in 30 years, using 2022 emissions levels. To limit global warming, global CO2 emissions must reach net zero. To do this by 2050 would require a decrease of about 1.4 GtCO2 each year.²¹

It is important to note that most carbon budgets primarily focus only on the emissions of carbon dioxide, which accounts for about three-fourths of the total GHG emissions. This means some carbon budget figures can be misleading if they do not account for other GHGs like methane or nitrous oxide, which have a higher Global Warming Potential.²²

The primary producers of fossil fuels represent the ultimate source of GHG emissions,²³ and as a result, they play a defining role in global efforts to limit global warming. Among business leaders and investors in the oil and gas exploration and production industry, there is a growing recognition, perhaps best stated by BP CEO Bernard Looney, that the "world's carbon budget is finite and running out fast."24 Climate-related regulations and policy changes, as well as increasing adoption of clean energy sources, mean that decarbonizing should be in companies' best financial interest. Transitioning away from fossil fuels to a low carbon economy is essential if the world is to have any chance of keeping the global temperature increase below 2°C.

IMPLICATIONS OF PHASING OUT OIL AND GAS

Despite the fact that scientists at major oil and gas companies have been aware of the link between the combustion of fossil fuels and global warming as early as 1959,²⁵ the industry as a whole has so far failed to adequately prepare for the inevitable energy transition to low-carbon energy sources. Market analyst Wood Mackenzie notes that "no oil company is preparing for the scale of decline envisioned in [a 2°C] scenario."²⁶ An analysis of carbonintensive sectors by credit rating agency Moody's similarly found that the "oil and gas sector as a whole is the least prepared for a rapid transition" $^{\rm 27}$ and to address climate-related financial risks. $^{\rm 28}$

Phasing out oil and gas production will require a massive restructuring and a complete overhaul of the sector, significantly impacting every facet of the global economy, and particularly the extractives sector and related service providers like construction, transportation, and manufacturing. Ultimately, the energy transition represents an existential concern for oil and gas companies and no other industry will be impacted to the same extent.

GROWING CONSENSUS THAT OIL AND GAS DEMAND WILL FALL

The energy transition is already underway and uncertainty over future demand for oil and gas products is heavily impacting the long-term outlook for the industry, particularly amidst growing interest in renewable energy investments, the rising popularity of electric vehicles, and growing concern about the lasting impacts of climate.²⁹ According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), "renewables will make up over one-third of the global [electricity] generation mix by 2025."³⁰ In 2050, the IEA also predicts that two thirds of the world's energy will come from renewables, and

In 2050, the IEA predicts that fossil fuels will fall from creating 80 percent of the market's energy to under 20 percent.

 \bigcirc

fossil fuels will fall from creating 80 percent of the market's energy to under 20 percent.³¹

Against this backdrop, a new consensus emerged among the largest and most prominent industry forecasters, including the IEA, Rystad Energy, and Wood Mackenzie, that the demand for oil and gas in 2050 will fall below current levels of about 100 million barrels per day.³² This is despite an expected doubling of global gross domestic product (GDP) by 2050,³³ which has been previously positively correlated with global oil demand for decades.³⁴

Much of the negative forecasting about oil demand is driven by anticipated demand destruction. In its 2022 Energy Outlook report, the IEA presumes that "natural gas demand reaches a plateau by the end of the decade, and oil demand reaches a high point in the mid 2030s before falling slightly."35 Through scenario analysis, BP similarly forecasts that "global oil demand [will] plateau over the next 10 years," citing the rise of electric vehicles and the increasing investment in renewable energy sources.³⁶ Though there is some debate about the exact timeframe, it is widely expected that the long-term demand for fossil fuels will significantly decline, and that the oil and gas sector must plan accordingly.

Analysts are largely in agreement that if we have not reached peak oil demand already,³⁷ it will happen within the next decade. However, oil markets are notoriously volatile in the short term and two recent major world events – the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian invasion of Ukraine – have strained oil and gas supply chains and boosted prices, with particularly pronounced impacts in Europe. However, the IEA's 2022 base case forecast sees oil demand growing at about 0.8 percent annually until it peaks around 2030 at a little more than 100 million barrels per day.³⁸ Both of these events have impacted the shortterm outlook for the market, and in 2022, several Western oil majors announced record-breaking profits.³⁹ Following decreased demand for oil and gas during the global COVID-19 pandemic, global consumption has largely returned to prepandemic levels boosting short-term optimism for oil and gas demand.⁴⁰ Correspondingly, energy-related CO2 emissions rebounded to 36.6 Gt in 2021, the largest ever annual rise in emissions.⁴¹ Additionally, sanctions on Russian natural gas exports have meant that European oil majors have begun increasing their production of natural gas to fill the gap.⁴² However, these are short-term market impacts and they do not change the long-term outlook that the oil and gas industry is very much in decline.





The world's carbon budget is finite and running out fast. – BP CEO Bernard Looney

 \bigcirc



SECTION 2: OIL AND GAS COMPANY VALUATIONS

RECOMMENDATIONS

Oil and gas companies should disclose:

- information about oil and gas reserves, including data about GHG emissions embedded in reserves;
- the critical financial assumptions and estimates that underpin financial accounting, including information about asset retirement obligations and impairment testing.

Climate change is and will continue to be a global crisis that has significant impacts on global markets. The methodologies oil and gas companies employ to discern and represent their value are of incredible importance for emissions planning and the welfare of citizens, markets, and governments across the globe; therefore, advocates must understand how oil and gas company valuations are determined and what information they need to assess these valuations.

OIL COMPANY VALUATIONS ARE HEAVILY BASED ON THE VIABILITY OF FUTURE RESERVES

A very common means of assessing the value of a publicly-traded oil and gas production company involves the company's reserves and the timeline it expects for developing them. Put simply, an upstream oil and gas company's value is largely based on its ability to continually produce oil and gas, replacing depleted wells with new production without interruption. Even for integrated oil companies – with both upstream (exploration and production) and midstream/downstream (processing and distribution) operations - reserve estimates are among the primary determinants of the value of an oil and gas company, along with the level of production and the commodity price.⁴³ Industry analyst IHS Markit estimates that about 80 percent of the value of most publicly-traded oil and gas companies is based on the viability of proved reserves.44

Oil and gas companies should be annually and publicly disclosing information about their oil and gas reserves so that stakeholders are more accurately able to assess the economic value, risks, and potential benefits of production decisions in the context of climate policies. Additionally, oil and gas companies should report on the GHG emissions embedded in reserves, or the amount of GHG emissions that would result from production and combustion of a particular reserve, to enable stakeholders to understand the implications of developing a specific project on the global carbon budget.

The current methodology for valuing publiclytraded oil and gas companies is largely reliant on historical data and assumptions about energy markets that are not forward-looking. However, given the predicted changes in energy markets, historical data is inherently unreliable as a basis for determining the current value of companies. This results in misleading financial reports and has implications for shareholders, other market participants and policymakers. Because these valuations are used to determine the pulse of markets across jurisdictions, it is more important in the oil and gas industry than in less ubiquitous industries to use accurate numbers and disclose the degree of certainty that the companies have in their calculations.

Because oil and gas companies' valuations ae heavily influenced by historical data, many oil and gas companies' current demand assumptions do not account for the energy transition sufficiently.

WHAT ARE OIL AND GAS RESERVES?

Oil and gas reserves are an estimate of the amount of crude oil and natural gas located in a particular economic region, with the economic potential of being extracted, based on historical data. Reserve estimates involve some degree of uncertainty and are generally divided into three categories based on how likely it is the oil and gas can be recovered using current technology:

- proved reserves have a greater than 90 percent chance that the oil and gas will be profitably recovered;
- probable reserves have a greater than 50 percent chance of profitably extracting the oil and gas; and
- possible reserves have between a 10 percent and 50 percent change of profitably recovering the oil and gas.⁴⁵

Probable and possible reserves can be converted into proved reserves over time. Additionally, contingent resources are "[t]hose quantities of petroleum which are estimated, on a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations but which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable."⁴⁶ Estimates of reserves quantities and the technological and economic factors that influence them are also subject to constant change.

Reserve estimates are critical for both national fossil fuel policy decision-making processes and fossil fuel companies' operational or investment decision-making processes.⁴⁷ Companies are often obligated to report these estimates to shareholders and debt-holders as an indication of financial health and future profitability.⁴⁸ Oil and gas reserves are also one of the major factors affecting oil and gas prices and the price of oil and gas futures contracts in the commodities market, which are agreements to buy or sell oil and gas at a specific date in the future for an agreed-upon price.⁴⁹ Capital markets generally assign a positive value to fossil fuel reserves in calculations of futures contracts since reserves are seen as an indicator of future revenue streams.

In 2022, Carbon Tracker, with data support from Global Energy Monitor, published the Global Registry of Fossil Fuels, which represents the first "comprehensive, independent, policy neutral and fully open-source database that demonstrates the scale of CO2 emissions associated with each country's national reserves and production."⁵⁰ The Global Registry allows a broad range of stakeholders to access the data on reserves needed to make timely analyses to inform planning and decision-making to ensure production plans are compatible with the need to limit global heating to 1.5°C.

While some financial calculations are more straightforward, company valuations depend on a variety of assumptions. Publicly-traded oil and gas companies' valuations are often based on estimated future cash flows after deducting expenses and applying a discount rate. The estimates of future cash flows are underpinned by assumptions about long-term future demand and future commodity prices, which are largely based on historical oil prices. Because oil and gas companies' valuations are heavily influenced by historical data, many oil and gas companies' current demand assumptions do not account for the energy transition sufficiently.

According to Ceres, in an analysis of investor expectations, estimates of future cash flows are the basis for determining the value of its assets, including its property, plant, and equipment needed to drill, produce, transport, refine and store such reserves,"⁵¹ and if these estimates are inaccurate, so are the value of its assets. Additionally, assumptions and estimates about the anticipated lifetime of an asset are used in impairment testing, which is the process of considering whether the fair value of an asset has fallen below its recorded costs are used. To mitigate this problem, companies should be disclosing the critical assumptions and estimates that underpin their financial accounting.

The addition of new reserves doesn't always have a position impact on company valuations. A recent study by WK Associates found that the addition of high-carbon, unproven reserves was correlated with diminished firm valuation.⁵² The study built on research by the National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER), which found that proved undeveloped reserves growth and firm value were significantly negatively correlated.53 In other words, as companies report more undeveloped reserves that are likely to be viable, their economic value becomes lower. WK Associates used the IPCC's Effective CO2 Emissions Factors⁵⁴ to weight the unproven reserves based on their future emissions, or emissions embedded in reserves, and found that the negative correlation between the addition of high-carbon reserves and firm value was even higher than indicated in the NBER study.55

CURRENT VALUATIONS OF PUBLICLY-TRADED OIL AND GAS COMPANIES DO NOT REFLECT ENERGY TRANSITION RISKS

Currently, oil and gas companies' valuations obscure climate and energy transition-related risks to investors precisely because their valuations rely on historical oil prices and are also bolstered by industry's plans for continued growth. A 2022 analysis by Global Witness of projections by Rystad Energy found that "the 20 largest oil and gas companies are expected to invest \$932 billion in developing new oil and gas fields – in just 9 years. By the end of 2040 the figure grows to a staggering \$1.5 trillion dollars."⁵⁶ According to the UN Environment Programme (UNEP) Emissions Gap Report in 2022, the "policies currently in place with no additional action are projected to result in global warming of 2.8°C over the twenty-first century."⁵⁷ There is scientific consensus that this would result in worsening water scarcity, more frequent and severe heat waves, more intense storms and flooding, loss of biodiversity, increased food insecurity, more frequent wildfires, and rising sea levels.

To limit such warming, rapid and large-scale action is needed that will necessarily come with significant market disruptions and changes to many facets of the economy and society. UNEP's report finds that "global annual GHG emissions must be reduced by 45 percent compared with emissions projections under policies currently in place in just 8 years [7 years at the time of writing], and they must continue to decline rapidly after 2030 to avoid exhausting the limited remaining atmospheric carbon budget."⁵⁸

The study by WK Associates referenced above also shows that current valuations from major oil and gas companies defy the consensus that the energy transition will bring oil and gas demand below current levels by 2050.⁵⁹ Through a reverse discounted cash flow analysis on the S&P Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Select Industry Index (SPSIOP),⁶⁰ WK Associates found that the valuations of 80 percent of the companies in the index, including Hess Corporation and Marathon Oil Corporation, are largely based on the assumption that oil and gas demand will continue to grow over the next 50 to 100 years, in line with global GDP growth.⁶¹

However, there is now broad agreement that oil demand will no longer track global GDP, and as WK Associates' study shows, this is not reflected in the valuation of nearly any of the 30 upstream companies included in the S&P index. In other words, little to no climate transition risk is currently priced into the oil and gas sector today,⁶² obscuring massive, systemic and divisive risks to their investors and to the broader economy. Avoiding climate catastrophe will require governments to act fast in ways that will necessitate the transition away from fossil fuels, which means substantially reduced oil and gas demand.

Despite the dismal long-term economic outlook for the oil and gas industry, recent short-term record-breaking profits appear to have resulted in new plans to increase fossil fuel production and pivot away from energy transition commitments. For example, BP "now says it will increase investment in the production of fossil fuels by about \$1 billion a year above previous plans for the rest of the decade."63 Shell also "backed away from their pledges about investments in renewable sources such as solar and wind."64 It is hard to imagine this would be driven by something other than profit motive, and due to the intertwined well-being of markets and industry planning, companies cannot rely on bailouts or short-term booms to make decisions that fail to prepare for predicted economic shifts.

COMPANIES ARE NOT FULLY ACCOUNTING FOR ARO LIABILITIES

Oil and gas companies' valuations are also misleading because many companies are underestimating their asset retirement obligations, or AROs. If assets such as older wells fall in value, they cannot simply be written off as bad assets. In fact, oil, gas, and mining companies have a responsibility to return

"tangible long-lived assets," such as the site of an oil well, to the land's "original condition upon disposal."65 Jurisdictions differ on their practices, but these liabilities are supposed to be taken into consideration for contractual agreements, accounting and compliance purposes.66 As companies write down oil and gas assets in light of lower expected future prices, undoubtedly some affected assets will need to be retired earlier than originally planned and thus companies will need to allocate capital to finance the anticipated costs of decommissioning, which should increase reported liabilities.⁶⁷ Companies may also have to recognize new AROs in connection with assets previously thought to have indeterminate lives.⁶⁸ As part of reporting on critical financial assumptions and estimates, companies should also be disclosing their estimated ARO liabilities.

Regulators frequently do not require companies to set aside funds ahead of time to pay for these obligations, which increases the risk to governments and taxpayers.⁶⁹ For instance, millions of oil and gas wells in the United States may become liabilities to local and state governments because firms can't afford to adequately retire them.⁷⁰ If the company does not or cannot pay, then millions of dollars in costs will be externalized, forcing local residents to endure the harms of an abandoned well or governments and the public to foot the bill.⁷¹

??

Little to no climate transition risk is currently priced into the oil and gas sector today, obscuring massive, systemic and divisive risks to their investors and to the broader economy.

21



WHAT ARE ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS?

- An asset retirement obligation (ARO) is a company's liability for the costs to return a tangible, long-lived asset to its original condition when the company disposes of the asset.⁷² This legal obligation to retire the asset is either created by law or through a binding contract between two parties and is calculated when the asset is first acquired. AROs are common in the oil and gas sector because these industries will often lease land for their industrial activities that they are obligated to decommission at the end of their lease. Oil and gas companies have historically been expected to have long-lived assets (up to 80 years) with very expensive AROs that include, for example, future liability for oil well plugging and abandonment, drilling rig removal, and underground storage tank removal.⁷³ The idea of an ARO essentially recognizes that after an oil, gas, or mining company is done with, or no longer leases, a piece of land, there is some responsibility to leave it as they found it. Defining AROs and meeting them are both inherently complicated. Nevertheless, having accurate assessments of future decommission liability is essential when a company acquires an oil or gas property because this liability affects the overall estimated profitability of the asset and the company's calculations that it will have the cash flow necessary to meet its remediation obligations. Companies may also need to periodically review their AROs to account for changing market conditions.⁷⁴ Public oil and gas companies are generally required to report their provisional AROs on their financial balance sheets, but often, these companies do not simultaneously set aside funds to settle the obligations and insufficiently report the extent of accrued liability.⁷⁶
- As an illustration, the ARO for the plugging of an abandoned oil well at the end of its estimated useful life will include estimations of inflation rates, discount rates, plugging and abandonment costs per foot, and the estimated life of the well.⁷⁶ Because these liabilities are not due, however, until the well is closed – long after they are drilled – many countries require companies to post bonds for these liabilities. In part because AROs are often insufficiently reported, these bonding requirements are frequently much lower than the actual costs of plugging the wells.⁷⁷ As demand for fossil fuels is likely to decrease as the global economy decarbonizes, the time to decommission pipelines, processing facilities, and other oil and gas infrastructure will likely occur sooner than originally anticipated.⁷⁸ This means oil and gas companies will be on the hook for higher than planned decommission costs earlier than estimated in their ARO calculations, with implications for their available cash flow to meet these remediation obligations.⁷⁹

If companies do not and cannot pay to decommission wells, millions of oil and gas wells in the United States may become liabilities to local and state governments.





SECTION 3: FINANCIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION PLANS

RECOMMENDATIONS

Oil and gas companies should disclose:

- oil and gas project break-even prices;
- Price sensitivity analysis for reserve valuations under different scenarios.

Implicit in their plans for continued growth, the oil and gas industry's demand expectations are incompatible with the carbon budget and carry immense financial risks.

Research by Finance Watch indicates that the world's 60 largest banks have US\$1.35 trillion of exposure to fossil fuel assets, and the increasing financial stability risks resulting from climate change are only beginning to be fully recognized by bank supervisors. The financial system's exposure to US subprime mortgages in 2007 is estimated to have been a very similar amount, at US\$1.368 trillion – only a third of which was held by banks. This exposure will approximately double over the next decade, increasing the risk of a global financial crisis and mass unemployment if fossil fuel assets rapidly lose value, or become stranded.⁸⁰



WHAT ARE STRANDED ASSETS?

An asset becomes "stranded" when it is clear that it will not meet its anticipated return on investment.⁸¹ Oil and gas production represents assets critical not only to oil and gas companies, but also to broader economic activity and governments – particularly those in producing countries or with state-owned enterprises that manage fossil fuels. Because assets represent anticipated income, firms use estimates to forecast asset values and paint a picture of their financial futures.

Stranding may affect a wide range of assets, including infrastructure, real estate, agriculture, and fossil fuel reserves. This can occur due to changes in market conditions, technology, regulation, or societal preferences. Stranded assets can include, for example, coal power plants that become unprofitable due to the rise of renewable energy, or oil and gas reserves that become unburnable due to efforts to mitigate climate change. The risk of stranded assets is important for investors and companies to consider in their decision-making, as it can lead to significant financial losses and impact the sustainability of their business models.

Globally, Carbon Tracker estimates that over US\$1 trillion of oil and gas assets are at risk of becoming stranded, with these risks affecting not only producers but the entire value chain.⁸² Growing investor awareness, the rapid expansion of alternative energy sources, and expanding government and regulatory policy action all have an urgent role to play in addressing the associated financial risk of asset stranding for publicly-listed companies, their investors, and the wider financial system.

Projects that are not yet developed or that require substantial capital expenditure need a higher level of scrutiny given the increasing risk of asset stranding. In particular, contingent resources – reserves that are not yet marketable due to one or more contingencies⁸³ – approved for development "are most at risk of becoming stranded in the future since these quantities of oil and gas may not be capable of being burned in a climate-constrained world."⁸⁴

This information is especially important regarding the exploration and development of new projects where the risks of stranding or impairment are more likely, and more capital expenditure is at stake. To mitigate the risk of investing in projects that will ultimately become stranded, companies need to disclose the project break-even prices, or the price at which a project is no longer profitable, as well as an analysis of price sensitivity for reserve valuations under different scenarios. This data can also help identify projects that are at a higher risk of becoming stranded if the prices needed for the project to be economically viable are unrealistic in a rapidly decarbonizing economy.



If oil and gas asset stranding is not prevented or mitigated, financial markets are likely to suffer a domino effect through a "a cascade of stock market losses."

24



WHAT IS A PROJECT?

Dil and gas projects are defined as "operational activities that are governed by a single contract, dicense, lease, concession or similar legal agreement, and form the basis for payment liabilities with a government." Extractive projects are typically governed by a legal agreement between governments and companies, such as a contract to share revenues or a license granting a company the right to extract. A single project will be based on a single such legal agreement or a set of "substantially interrelated" legal agreements, meaning that they are "geographically and operationally interrelated" and "have substantially similar terms."⁸⁵

For example, if there were nearby oil fields that were owned and operated by the same joint venture under a single contract, relied on the same or adjacent licenses, and sold crude to the same buyers at similar rates, these oil fields would be considered one project. However, two oil fields would be considered separate projects if the fields were governed by separate contracts, were not adjacent or geographically close, had royalties assessed separately, and did not use shared project infrastructure even if they had the same owner(s) and operator and were located in the same region of the country.

This contract-based project definition is used by the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) as well as the EU, UK, Canada, and Norway, in the context of payment transparency reporting by oil, gas and mining companies.86 It also aligns with industry standards for accounting for and communicating information about individual oil and gas projects.87 Additionally, disclosing data on a project-level basis is a useful way to disaggregate information, like GHG emissions, to enable analysis on a national or local level, which in some cases, may be more useful than globally or company-wide aggregated data.



The Broader Financial Implications Of Stranded Assets

How big is the problem of stranded oil and gas assets? One team of researchers calculated in their May 2022 study that "global stranded assets as present value of future lost profits in the upstream oil and gas sector exceeds US\$1 trillion under plausible changes in expectations through the effects of climate policy."⁸⁸ For context, the size of global gross domestic product (roughly the size of the global economy) was roughly US\$97 trillion in 2021.⁸⁹

According to this research, most of the estimated US\$1 trillion losses are owned by publicly-listed oil and gas companies.⁹⁰ In line with Carbon Tracker research, it found that the US market is particularly vulnerable to this issue. The US and Russia face the highest risks of physical stranding at roughly US\$300 billion in assets each, followed by US\$100 billion in assets at risk in both Canada and China.⁹¹

If oil and gas asset stranding is not prevented or mitigated, financial markets are likely to suffer a domino effect through a "a cascade of stock market losses"⁹² that will spread across ownership networks. The study underscores the broad range of financial impacts to the oil and gas sector that would be felt throughout other industries and sectors, highlighting the cost of associated transition risks posed by the industry's inaction to decrease production. This research concludes that "the rate of industrial change required for achieving a $2^{\circ}C$ – let alone $1.5^{\circ}C$ – goal is so large that the rapid collapse of fossil fuels 'sunset' industries presents major transition risks."⁹³



In addition to asset stranding, another risk associated with industry's planned production is carbon lock-in. The Stockholm Environment Institute explains that once carbon-intensive investments are made, fossil fuel dependence, carbon emissions and their associated risks become "locked in" by these decisions.⁹⁴ In other words, furthering carbon dependency increases inertia among institutions, infrastructure, norms and technology, and therefore the costs associated with the necessary changes would be much more significant. This risk further underscores the financial implications of failing to meaningfully address the reliance on oil and gas and facilitate a managed decline in production.

Carbon lock-in only benefits oil and gas companies and their assets and poses a significant risk to planners and governments. This risk should be considered in development contexts when decision makers are considering building infrastructure, for example, in developing power plants and bringing energy to large swaths of the population.⁹⁵ The path to rapid and reliable energy sources was paved by fossil fuels in many countries, but they are no longer a secure option. Avoiding carbon lockin may require more funds to be allocated to countries with rising urgent energy needs, and stakeholders should be wary of "gas to power" and other transition arguments that facilitate carbon lock-in.96





For decades, the oil and gas sector has sought to delay the energy transition through deception, obstruction of climate science, and aggressive political lobbying.

SECTION 4: GREATER DISCLOSURE IS NEEDED FROM THE OIL AND GAS SECTOR

RECOMMENDATIONS

Oil and gas companies should disclose:

- detailed information about their transition plans;
- data about their GHG emissions on a projectlevel basis.

The oil and gas sector faces a host of climate risks that could undermine market stability. Despite these risks, current regulations make it possible for oil and gas companies to comply with current regulations without addressing climate risk in meaningful ways.

For decades, the oil and gas sector has sought to delay the energy transition through deception, obstruction of climate science, and aggressive political lobbying.⁹⁷ Companies have a history of deceiving the public both by omitting information and through fraudulent marketing. Voluntarily published sustainability reports and current mandated disclosures also generally fail to capture the net negative impact that oil and gas companies have on the environment and the scope of companies' climate-related financial risks.⁹⁸ In January of 2023, investments in clean energy reached more than US\$1 trillion, equaling for the first time in history the amounts invested in fossil fuels.⁹⁹ Shareholders are interested in genuine sustainable investments and must demand accountability for companies' energy transition-related commitments.

However, there is scant detailed information about climate risk in publicly-traded companies' financial reporting. According to an analysis of US financial reporting by the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) examining how companies across all sectors are discussing climate risk in the filings, "disclosures related to climate change have ... considerable variation in the content, detail, and location ... of climaterelated disclosures."100 The SEC further observed "significant inconsistency in the depth and specificity of disclosures by registrants across industries and within the same industry" and "significantly more extensive information in registrants' sustainability reports ... [and] websites as compared with their reports filed with the Commission."101

Additionally, a recent Carbon Tracker analysis of 134 "highly carbon-exposed companies" found that "98% of these companies did not provide sufficient information to demonstrate how their financial statements include consideration of the financial impacts of material climate matters."¹⁰² Most companies "failed to disclose the relevant quantitative climate-related assumptions and estimates used to prepare the financial statements, even when they indicated that climate risks may impact these assumptions." ¹⁰³ Real or fraudulent, companies use environmental claims to compete for value narratives that attract shareholders and consumers. Many major oil and gas companies have touted ambitious net zero emissions goals and climate-related commitments, relying on a combination of carbon offsets and attempting to pivot business operations towards renewable energy technologies. Likewise, advertisements from oil majors regularly feature new renewable energy technologies and research, to seem like these are major focus areas for the company, when in reality, they pale in comparison to new fossil fuel investments. Such greenwashing - a misleading marketing approach that tries to persuade consumers that a firm is taking environmentally-friendly initiatives without disclosing their efficacy, the extent if these initiatives, or the firm's overall impact on the environment - is rampant within the industry.

Further, meaningful changes that oil and gas companies could make in research and development are underfinanced, showing a gap between genuine efforts to prepare for energy transition and the lip service paid to green initiatives.¹⁰⁴ The market for carbon offsets is flooded with inaccurate or unverifiable assertions, including that oil and gas companies are making progress on a greener economy, and this marketing plays to their advantage. Advocates need to be able to verify (and, in turn, encourage) genuine climate action, and offsets are so far a problematic distraction from the urgently needed emissions reductions.

98% of [134 highly carbon-exposed companies] did not provide sufficient information to demonstrate how their financial statements included consideration of the financial impacts of material climate matters.- Carbon Tracker



WHAT ARE OFFSETS, AND WHY ARE THEY PROBLEMATIC?

A carbon offset is a tradeable right or certificate to an activity that claims to decrease or prevent carbon emissions.105 In theory, they provide a way for companies to compensate for carbonemitting practices by purchasing a counterbalance. Offsets are market instruments commonly used by companies as part of "net zero" and "carbon neutral" marketing claims and contribute funds towards activities such as reforestation, renewable energy investment, and landfill management.¹⁰⁶

However, offsets are largely problematic and insufficient in combating climate change. Researchers have long worried that they would function like an "accounting maneuver" that allows companies to write off responsibility for a small fee and continue business as usual.¹⁰⁷ Expert analyses show that carbon offset schemes rarely have the impacts they claim, and there is real damage involved in offset activities that is often overlooked.

Broadly, the offsets that dominate today's voluntary carbon markets have been discredited as a means of compensating for the fossil fuel industry's GHG emissions. Investigations by several independent analysts¹⁰⁸ have demonstrated that these projects routinely fail to demonstrate that they are producing durable carbon removals or even meaningful emissions reduction. One analysis found that "90 percent of rainforest carbon offsets" by Verra, the world's largest offset certifier, were "worthless."¹⁰⁹

In particular, land-use offsets, beyond their questionable efficacy, may increase the risk of hunger and displacement in low- and middle-income countries. Many projects rely on lands in the Global South, shifting emissions reduction responsibilities of wealthy corporations to burden historically disadvantaged communities.110 In 2021, Oxfam found that the land needed for carbon removal "net zero" pledges "could potentially be five times the size of India, or the equivalent of all the farmland on the planet."111 Oxfam's analysis showed that "just four of the big oil and gas producers (Shell, BP, TotalEnergies and ENI)" would need a landmass equal to one-third of the size of the world's farmland to meet net zero pledges, emphasizing the need for transparency from this sector.¹¹²

CLIMATE COMMITMENTS ARE NOT CLIMATE PLANS

Climate commitments, such as goals and targets, are significantly different from climate plans. Both are vulnerable to estimation mistakes and methodology errors, like those previously discussed in this paper, but plans require accountability mechanisms to ensure that the needed changes actually come to fruition.

An ongoing example of this emerges at UN climate negotiations, in which countries use Nationally Determined Contributions to advance the long-term goals established by international consensus to combat climate change.¹¹³ These are incredibly important measures, but with high levels of complexity in enforcement, verification, and engagement, it is difficult to accurately track countries' progress in meeting their policy and emissions goals.¹¹⁴

According to public disclosures and other public reporting, oil and gas companies are largely paying lip service to loftier environmental goals rather than meaningfully addressing the needs of the energy transition.¹¹⁵ Without disclosures about information on climate-related financial risk as described in Section 6, investors, local communities, policymakers and civil society do not have the necessary information and tools to assess the veracity or viability of such climate plans, to assess whether the company is actually capable of meeting those plans, to track progress or hold companies to account for their commitments. Instead, companies should be disclosing comprehensive transition plans. As defined by the TCFD, "[a] transition plan is an aspect of an organization's overall business strategy that lays out a set of targets and actions supporting its transition toward a low-carbon economy, including actions such as reducing its GHG emissions."116 Effective transition plans should set clear benchmarks for measuring progress and should clarify how the company plans to meet them.

NET ZERO EMISSION GOALS OFTEN LACK MEANINGFUL DATA TO MEASURE PROGRESS

Many oil and gas companies have set some form of a net zero target or carbon-neutral goal; however, "[n]ot all company targets of ambitions are created equal in the degree to which they reduce the impact of company activities on global temperature rise," according to a 2022 analysis of 15 major oil and gas companies by Carbon Tracker.¹¹⁷



Oil and gas companies are largely paying lip service to loftier environmental goals rather than meaningfully addressing the needs of the energy transition.

 \mathcal{D}

Although some Western oil majors, including Shell, ENI, Equinor, and TotalEnergies, have begun to disclose some information about their plans to transition to net zero emissions,¹¹⁸ these plans are usually incomplete in that they do not capture each stage of the lifespan of their products. Companies tend to report Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions, the ones most immediately linked to a firm's behavior, and often decline to disclose the emissions that are incurred later down the line, or Scope 3 emissions, altogether. Given the role of oil and gas combustion in driving global warming, oil and gas companies may be incentivized to downplay or underreport their emissions, and may also fail to address them in a reasonable time frame.¹¹⁹ For the oil and gas sector, this makes the information largely meaningless, and likely misleading to investors, given Scope 3 emissions represent between 80 percent and 95 percent of the sector's total emissions.¹²⁰

In one example, a recent Greenpeace report finds that TotalEnergies has been significantly underreporting its GHG emissions.¹²¹ According to the report, the company's emissions are almost four times higher than what it has publicly reported. The report's findings are based on an analysis of data obtained from a third-party emissions monitoring system that TotalEnergies has used for over a decade. Issues in reporting included the "building blocks" approach allowing TotalEnergies to allegedly ignore several categories of emissions detailed by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol,¹²² including several related to operations such as refining and petrochemicals. Self-reporting is prone to errors and biases and that independent third-party verification is necessary to ensure accurate and transparent reporting.

Additionally, reporting on GHG emissions is largely done on a globally aggregated basis, which means it is difficult for stakeholders to assess the emissions intensity of a company's operations at a national or local level. Reporting on annual Scope 1, 2, and 3 GHG emissions on a project-level basis would alleviate this issue and provide all stakeholders with more meaningful information.

WHAT ARE SCOPE 1, 2, AND 3 GHG EMISSIONS?

There are several methods for measuring carbon emissions, but the most widely used and accepted is the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, developed by the World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable Development.¹²³ The Protocol provides tools and guidance to aid organizations in calculating emissions all along the value chain. In 2001 the GHG Protocol published the first version of its Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard¹²⁴ which contains sector-specific tools for corporations.

The Protocol classifies emissions by the scope of their origin:

- Scope 1 refers to all direct emissions resulting from sources directly owned or controlled by the reporting company, for example company vehicles or industrial sites.
- Scope 2 emissions are those from purchased sources consumed by the company, such as energy purchased to heat and cool offices.
- Scope 3 emissions account for all other emissions produced as a consequence of the activities of the company or entity. This includes both upstream and downstream activities, ranging from transport of raw materials to the combustion of gasoline in cars.

Scope 3 emissions account for the vast majority of most companies' emissions, and for oil and gas companies, Scope 3 emissions account for as much as 95% of their total emissions.¹²⁵ By nature, Scope 3 emissions are more complicated to calculate, but this complexity should not be an excuse for regulators to make Scope 3 reporting voluntary. Existing frameworks like the GHG Protocol have developed specific calculations for companies to use in determining their Scope 3 emissions.

Accurately tracking the full spectrum of carbon emissions is absolutely essential for understanding climate risks, for setting goals for emissions reduction, and for tracking progress on those goals. Accounting for Scope 3 emissions can also make companies more profitable and productive by catching inefficiencies.

RELIANCE ON EMISSIONS MITIGATION TECHNOLOGIES SHOULD BE RIGOROUSLY SCRUTINIZED

Too often, details about how a company plans to achieve their climate goals are typically vague, and often rely on asset divestments or emissions mitigation technologies.¹²⁶ However, there are substantial concerns with the effectiveness of these strategies.¹²⁷ Emerging technologies, such as those discussed in Box 6, are not yet well-understood or well-regulated, and effectiveness should be scrutinized by third-



Given the role of oil and gas combustion in driving global warming, oil and gas companies may be incentivized to downplay or underreport their emissions.



party monitoring, especially if companies intend to rely on them to reach their proposed climate goals. Additionally, "[i]n order for net zero goals to be effective," according to Carbon Tracker, at a minimum, "such ambitions must be linked to a specific scenario with a defined temperature outcome and an understanding of the emissions pathway and the required level of emissions mitigating technologies required."¹²⁸

The extent to which oil and gas companies rely on offsets to achieve their GHG emissions reduction targets and the quality of any offsets on which they are relying, as mentioned in Box 6, is a significant area of concern. Investors need access to detailed transition plans to fully understand how much companies plan to rely on offsets within their emissions reduction strategies. As Oxfam points out, carbon removal "relies on virtually unproven new technologies, or on a level of land use that is completely impossible and would lead to mass hunger and displacement of people across the world."¹²⁹

Emissions reductions strategies and calculations are sometimes relevant to regulatory demands and sometimes related to competitiveness. Marketing practices to attract investors interested in sustainability or which allow firms to increase prices in order to pay for a more environmentally-friendly process or product are fair game, but when these claims are deceptive or misleading, they amount to greenwashing.



WHAT IS GREENWASHING AND WHY DOES IT MATTER?

Greenwashing is a fraudulent marketing practice. Though greenwashing can take many forms, a systematic review published in Environmental Sciences Europe reveals the major components of greenwashing as deliberate, misleading corporate action and a focus on deceiving stakeholders with regards to environmental performance.¹³⁰

It is critical that all stakeholders understand how and why greenwashing is employed because it fundamentally undermines both trust in corporate actors and the ability of third parties to audit and account for the actions of companies in broader environmental initiatives. True instances of greenwashing can also have legal and reputational ramifications,¹³¹ but despite this, recent studies demonstrate alarming error rates in the greenwashing of widely-used analytic practices such as emissions calculations.¹³²

The prevalence of greenwashing allegations has grown with environmental marketing claims and the rising popularity of ESG (environmental, social, and governance) initiatives and corporate social responsibility. Goals such as net zero carbon emissions pledges and Paris Alignment are also growing popular for marketing purposes. Experts warn that deceptive practices used to keep firms competitive on these fronts can harm firms that are truly taking on environmental initiatives,¹³³ while activists and scientists fear the damage that greenwashing does to unified efforts against global climate change. UN Secretary General António Guterres appointed an Expert Group to combat a "surplus of confusion and deficit of credibility" regarding net zero emissions targets made by non-State actors in 2021 and called for a zero-tolerance policy for net zero greenwashing at the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)'s 27th Conference of Party talks in 2022.¹³⁴

In a recent example, Global Witness filed a complaint with the US SEC accusing Shell of greenwashing through misleading disclosures. According to the complaint, Shell claimed that 12 percent of its 2021 capital expenditure went to "renewables and energy solutions"; however, Global Witness found that the company spent only 1.5 percent on wind and solar power generation.¹²⁶



SECTION 5: ROLE OF REGULATORS AND STANDARD-SETTERS

Regulators and standard-setters play a critical role in shaping the disclosures that are required to support a well-managed decline of oil and gas production. The responsibility is not only in the hands of regulators that deal directly with oil and gas, but also with policymakers and standardsetters that monitor financial institutions and market stability. As the world transitions away from fossil fuels and towards more sustainable sources of energy, it is essential that these institutions provide clear and consistent guidance on the types of information that companies must disclose. This section of the handbook will explore the role of regulators and standard-setters in promoting transparency and accountability in the oil and gas industry.

Regulators and standardsetters play a critical role in shaping the disclosures that are required to support a well-managed decline of oil and gas production.

VOLUNTARY APPROACHES TO CLIMATE RISK REPORTING

In response to the lack of transparency and standardization of publicly available climate risk and transition planning information, a diverse group of third parties have also developed climate-related reporting frameworks seeking to meet stakeholders' needs.



Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

Although there have been a number of reporting frameworks developed by third parties, in the last five years, investors and other stakeholders have largely converged around the TCFD¹³⁶ as the most useful voluntary framework for communicating information about climaterelated risks that companies may face.¹³⁷

The TCFD was created in 2015 by the Financial Stability Board, "to develop recommendations on the types of information that companies should disclose to support investors, lenders, and insurance underwriters in appropriately assessing and pricing a specific set of risksrisks related to climate change."138 In 2017, the TCFD published specific recommendations for disclosing clear, comparable and consistent information about the risks and opportunities presented by climate change. In particular, the TCFD encourages companies to disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate change on their businesses, as well as their processes for identifying and managing climate-related risks and opportunities. The TCFD's reporting framework focuses on four thematic areas: governance, strategy, risk management, metrics, and targets.139



GHG emissions reporting

There are also reporting standards for quantitative GHG emissions reporting, which helps stakeholders understand the carbon footprint of companies' operations. Created by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol developed the first standardized methodology for GHG emissions accounting in 2001. As part of their methodology, the GHG Protocol also introduced the concept of three different "scopes" of emissions (as discussed in Box 7) to help categorize emissions that are both directly and indirectly attributable to the company's supply chain and operations.¹⁴⁰ Since then, the GHG Protocol has become the leading accounting and reporting standard for GHG emissions disclosure.141

In 2017, the TCFD published specific recommendations for disclosing clear, comparable and consistent information about the risks and opportunities presented by climate change.





Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative

Financial accounting and auditing standards

The EITI is another global standard-setter for the transparent management of oil, gas, and mineral resources. The EITI is a tripartite body consisting of companies, governments, and civil society representatives that promotes transparency and accountability in the extractive industries by requiring participating countries to disclose information on the revenues they receive from these resources.¹⁴² This includes payments made by companies to the government, as well as information about how such funds are used. The EITI is currently in the process of revising its standard and is considering a number of new energy transitionrelated disclosures, including some that are recommended by this handbook.

Through these new disclosure requirements and expectations, the EITI can also help to inform a well-managed decline of oil and gas production. This information will allow governments, civil society, and other stakeholders to make informed decisions about how they use fossil fuel revenues to support sustainable development and diversify their economies. In addition, broader disclosures under the EITI Standard can help to identify areas where corruption and mismanagement may be occurring, allowing for corrective action to be taken to prevent further harm to the environment and communities.

All of these developments are important shifts and demonstrate the rapidly growing international consensus around the need for substantially more information about climaterelated financial risk. But much remains to be determined and the industry continues to fight against greater disclosures.

Financial accounting and auditing bodies have also recently clarified that companies should be considering climate-related financial risks in their financial statements. For accounting, companies in most countries refer to the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)'s International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),¹⁴³ which provides principles for preparing financial statements. According to IASB, "[c]ompanies must consider climaterelated matters in applying IFRS Standards when the effect of those matters is material in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole."144

In the US, public companies use the US Generally Accepted Accounting Standards, which are developed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). According to FASB, "when applying financial accounting standards, an entity may consider the effects of certain material ESG matters, similar to how an entity considers other changes in its business and operating environment that have a material direct or indirect effect on the financial statements and notes thereto."145

Concerns about how companies are incorporating climate-related financial risks into their accounts has generated a new strand of work on sustainability-related accounting standards. In November 2021, the IFRS Foundation formed the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB). The ISSB, was established to develop a global sustainability reporting standard that includes climate-related financial disclosures.¹⁴⁶

The ISSB's sustainability reporting standards, based on the TCFD framework, will complement existing financial reporting standards, such as the IFRS, and will help ensure that companies disclose material climate-related risks and opportunities in their financial statements.¹⁴⁷ This information will enable investors and other stakeholders to make informed decisions about the financial performance of companies in the oil and gas sector, including their exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities.

In the context of oil and gas company valuations, the ISSB's March 2022 Exposure Draft Climate Disclosures included specific requirements for several industries, including the oil and gas sector. The ISSB's recommendations for the oil and gas exploration and production sector include disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions, emissions embedded in reserves, as well as reserves valuation, and capital expenditures.¹⁴⁸ This new standard will enable investors and other stakeholders to compare the climate-related risks and opportunities of different companies in the oil and gas sector.

However, standards have little value without effective enforcement. Thus, accounting standard setters' work requires that financial supervision authorities, like securities regulators and other financial oversight bodies, scrutinize disclosures to ensure that best accounting practices are being respected in order to allow investors and other stakeholders to make informed decisions about the financial performance of companies, especially in the oil and gas sector, and to support the transition to a low-carbon economy.

MANDATORY LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS

In response to growing demand for standardized, comprehensive and reliable climate-related financial risk disclosures, regulators like the US' SEC, have begun to consider new reporting requirements for publicly-listed companies.

In the US, the SEC issued a proposed rule in March 2022, which proposes a number of new sector-agnostic disclosure requirements, including information on the company's governance and climaterelated risk management practices as well as information on climate-related targets and goals, if the company has any set.¹⁴⁹ The SEC's proposed rule is informed by the TCFD's recommendations,¹⁵⁰ and also calls for companies to disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, broadly in line with the methodology used by the GHG Protocol.¹⁵¹ Following an extensive comment period¹⁵², the SEC is expected to publish its final rule in mid-2023.

In the EU, the European Council passed the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) in November 2022, which "modernizes and strengthens the rules about the social and environmental information that companies have to report."¹⁵³ Large publicly-traded companies, banks and insurance companies will be required to disclose information about investment risks arising from climate change and other sustainability issues. The CSRD defines five areas of reporting, including information about



Large publicly-traded companies, banks and insurance companies will be required to disclose information about investment risks arising from climate change and other sustainability issues.

• • 36


the company's business model, policies, risks the company has identified and how they plan to manage them, which are also similar to the recommendations of the TCFD.¹⁵⁴ Like the SEC's climate disclosure rule, the CSRD applies the same reporting standards to all sectors, though the scope of the US proposed rule is much more limited;¹⁵⁵ however, sector-specific guidance is also being developed by the European Sustainability Reporting Standards.¹⁵⁶

The US and EU are not alone. In December 2022, the Australian Treasury also announced a public consultation on climate-related financial disclosures.¹⁵⁷ Additionally, New Zealand and the United Kingdom recently passed legislation that makes climate-related disclosures mandatory for a subset of businesses, and Switzerland and Singapore are also developing mandatory climate disclosure requirements as well.¹⁵⁸ The International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) also notes progress in several jurisdictions, including Hong Kong, India, Japan, and New Zealand, to incorporate TCFD's disclosure recommendations into their legal and regulatory frameworks.¹⁵⁹ While these are promising steps in the right direction, they are not happening fast enough and they are not on track to require the complete panoply of essential information that is needed by stakeholders to fully inform a well-managed energy transition. As addressed in more detail below, certain key issues are not currently being contemplated by these various efforts but are essential pieces of information that oil and gas companies should be required to disclose.

??

In the EU, the European Council passed the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) in November 2022, which "modernizes and strengthens the rules about the social and environmental information that companies have to report."





SECTION 6: CRITICAL INFORMATION THE OIL AND GAS SECTOR MUST BE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE

This section focuses on the specific types of information that are essential for oil and gas companies to disclose to publicly demonstrate – and to generate public confidence in – their ability to effectively assess and manage climaterelated financial risk. For each suggested category of disclosure, this handbook describes how such information is relevant for all stakeholders, with particular emphasis on how advocates can make a strong case for such disclosures with investors and policymakers.¹⁶⁰

As illustrated in this handbook, meaningful transparency requires increasing volume and utility of disclosures by demanding information that is appropriately disaggregated to allow citizens and policymakers to assess climate risks at the national and local levels.

Where possible, it is essential that these disclosures be mandated, integrated into financial reporting requirements and subject to requirements for assurance. Without that, they lack reliability and are subject to manipulation, which can substantially undermine its utility for stakeholders. In places where standardized disclosure requirements are unlikely, these suggested disclosures also provide ideas about

the kinds of information companies should be able to provide and the questions stakeholders should be asking.



RECOMMENDATION 1 TRANSITION PLANS

An effective transition plan should describe how a company is planning to update its business model and operations in the context of the energy transition and "[is] of particular interest to a wide-range of users, especially when they are seeking to verify the credibility of organizations' commitments related to climate change."161 The TCFD recommends that transition plans "articulate specific initiatives and actions the organization will undertake to effectively execute the transition plan, including regular milestones."162 Effective transition plans should also explain the governance structures in place to oversee the plans, which should also be regularly reviewed and updated. Lastly, transition plans should be aligned with the company's overall business strategy to ensure integration with other elements of the company's operations. Ultimately, effective transition plans should be sufficiently detailed to "enable users to assess its credibility."163

As discussed in Section 4, oil and gas companies must disclose specific details about how they plan to meet their climate targets and goals, as such commitments are meaningless without a clear plan to explain how they plan to meet their goals and an ability to evaluate progress. This means transition plans should be anchored in quantitative targets and designed with appropriate metrics to enable stakeholders to effectively track the company's progress in implementing their plans. Significance to investors: Transition plans are a critical tool for enabling investors to understand how a company is preparing for the energy transition and making decisions about how to address climate risks. Broadly, companies whose business models rely on continued fossil fuel production and that are ill-prepared for the ongoing energy transition have little incentive to voluntarily provide reliable information about their transition plans to investors.

There is substantial likelihood that companies with high transition risks will conceal such risks from shareholders if they are not compelled to disclose detailed transition plans. In a 2020 report, the National Whistleblower Center applied the methods of professional fraud investigators - which entails analysis of incentives, opportunities, and rationalizations to commit fraud – to the fossil fuel industry and concluded that there is a considerable risk of fraudulent concealment of transition risks in the industry. The report reviewed the industry's record of deceptions around climate risks and found that overstatements of reserves and other potential accounting frauds warranted attention from regulators, prosecutors and whistleblowers.¹⁶⁴ These risks highlight the critical need for detailed transition plans so that investors have adequate information to scrutinize companies' decision-making.

Significance to policymakers: Policymakers in producer countries need to understand how companies are preparing for the energy transition as companies' transition plans have direct bearing on countries' abilities to meet their own climate targets and commitments. In addition, information about companies plans for specific oil and gas projects is critical to apprise policymakers of anticipated production to inform planning for energy needs and potential revenue generation. Financial regulators also have an important role to play in protecting investors, promoting financial sustainability and aligning financial markets with climate goals by making sure that companies disclose relevant information to shareholders and the public.



RECOMMENDATION 2 OIL AND GAS RESERVES INFORMATION

Oil and gas reserves, as described in Box 2, are known resources that may be extracted in the future if found to be economically viable. Broadly, information about oil and gas reserves allows stakeholders to assess the value of production decisions in the context of the carbon budget and related climate policies. Information about oil and gas reserves, including emissions embedded in reserves (see Recommendation 3) can also be used to discern the carbon emissions footprint of planned or future projects.

Oil and gas reserves information provides important insight into a company's future production plans and a country's potential oil and gas supply. In particular, companies should be disclosing information about probable and possible reserves as well as the methodology and underlying reasoning used to value reserves. This helps stakeholders to more effectively compare reserve assets and estimate the cost of exploring, developing, and extracting specific volumes of oil or gas. Reserve reports should also provide information about the anticipated pre-tax net cash flows that could be produced from different types of reserves. To provide the necessary information for stakeholders to assess the profitability of specific projects, companies

should also be disclosing information about project break-even prices (see Recommendation 6) and price sensitivity analyses (see Recommendation 7), which are described below.

- Significance to investors: Information on oil and gas reserves provides investors with a more meaningful and comprehensive understanding of a company's oil and gas reserve assets, which enables investors to evaluate the relative value of oil and gas companies. Given that fossil fuel reserves represent the overwhelming majority of the value of upstream oil and gas companies, information about reserves is primarily important to assure investors about the availability of new resources to replace depleted oil and gas projects. Put simply, investors want to know that companies will be able to consistently produce oil and gas without supply interruptions as oil projects conclude and new projects are developed.
- Significance to policymakers: Oil and gas reserve information is valuable for policymakers to understand a country's anticipated oil and gas supply and to inform the country's oil and gas supply commitments. Information on oil and gas reserves also

helps policymakers to understand the timeline for developing specific projects, while also providing the data needed to estimate the revenue-generating potential of specific reserves. In particular, whether a specific reserve is or is not considered economically viable is of substantial interest to policymakers and citizens of producer countries, where the consequences for failed investment decisions are likely severe, including possible substantial increased national debt. This is because stalled projects fail to produce the returns needed to cover costs, and thus fail to generate taxable profits and expected payments to governments, which are often a significant part of the rationale for a government to allow a project to proceed.

RECOMMENDATION 3: EMISSIONS EMBEDDED IN RESERVES

Emissions embedded in reserves refers to the amount of GHG emissions that would result from production and combustion of a particular reserve. This information represents a subset of information about oil and gas reserves and can be calculated simply by multiplying reserve quantities with their corresponding IPCC Effective CO2 Emissions Factor.¹⁶⁵ This recommendation aligns with the TCFD's Energy Group guidance which recommends that relevant firms in the oil and gas, coal, and electrical utilities sectors disclose a "breakdown of reserves by type and an indication of associated emissions factors to provide insight into potential future emissions."¹⁶⁶

Emissions embedded in reserves data also provides a straightforward shorthand for the oil and gas sector's Scope 3 GHG emissions data, which represents between 80 percent to 95 percent of total GHG emissions.¹⁶⁷ Importantly, emissions embedded in reserves data also allows stakeholders to estimate the entire future emissions potential from an oil and gas company's portfolio of reserves, whereas Scope 3 emissions data represents emissions in a finite time-frame. Significance to investors: Standardized projections of GHG emissions embedded in reserves would generate critical forward-looking climate risk metrics based on existing reserves disclosure requirements.¹⁶⁸ The emissions embedded in reserves calculation process is straightforward, and it eliminates issues with reporting boundaries, given that Scope 3 emissions estimates usually involve determining where the boundaries of a company's emissions begin and end. Emissions embedded in reserves are limited to the emissions attributable to a company's oil and gas reserves upon combustion.

The forward-looking nature of emissions embedded in reserves data is also an important benefit as a climate risk metric, something largely lacking in the financial services industry. Currently, investors approximate future climate risk in the oil and gas sector by, among other things, discounting long-lived assets in a manner that is inconsistent between investment targets, resulting in less accurate assessments. Additionally, emissions embedded in reserves data could serve as a check on emissions goals of reporting companies as well as the carbon intensity benchmarks of funds and other financial products. Investment analysts can also make sure their discount rates reflect the idiosyncratic risk of either growing or declining emissions potential represented by a company's reserves.

Significance to policymakers: Emissions embedded in reserves disclosures are important for financial supervisors to evaluate oil and gas companies' transition risks because they provide critical forwardlooking climate risk metrics based on existing reserves disclosure requirements.

> Emissions embedded in reserves disclosures can help regulators understand potential carbon emissions associated with fossil

fuel reserves that companies are relying on for future revenue, which, in turn, can inform regulators' decision-making on capital requirements, stress tests, and disclosure rules for the industry. Additionally, the data can inform regulatory policies and market interventions to incentivize companies to transition to a low-carbon economy and to avoid stranded assets. By understanding the potential carbon emissions of these reserves, financial supervisors can help ensure the stability and sustainability of the financial system and protect investors from climaterelated risks.

RECOMMENDATION 4: GHG EMISSIONS ON A PROJECT-LEVEL BASIS

Companies' GHG emissions are categorized into three scopes, as discussed in Box 7. Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions intensity varies markedly across oil and gas production projects, therefore GHG emissions disclosures on a project-level basis would allow stakeholders to evaluate the specific emissions intensity of individual projects, as defined in Box 5. Oil and gas companies should be reporting annually on Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions on a project-level basis, both in terms of emissions intensity and emissions in absolute terms.

Data at this level of granularity is so useful that companies such as ExxonMobil are already sharing it with company decision-makers.169 By requiring companies to disclose emissions data at the project level, stakeholders would be better equipped to identify high-risk projects that are more likely to become stranded assets as the world transitions to a low-carbon economy. Reporting on project-level GHG emissions differs from reporting on emissions embedded in reserves because the former captures actual emissions data, whereas the latter relates to the future emissions potential of specific oil and gas reserves.

Significance to investors: Globally or company-wide aggregated emissions data may enable companies to obfuscate the extent of risk inherent in asset portfolios by hiding high-risk projects in pools of less risky assets. Aggregated data also prevent investors from being able to see how companies are working to address emissions risks within their portfolios. With project-level data, an investor can determine whether a company is working to lower emissions by simply selling off dirty assets or by cleaning up operations. With project-level data, an investor can also determine whether a company is protecting corporate value by reducing its dependence on emissions in its business strategy. Lastly, carbon regulations vary between countries, states, and provinces. Project-level GHG emissions disclosure would allow investors to evaluate the costs, risk and opportunities of carbon regulations more accurately, which would result in valuations that indicate how companies are addressing climate issues more accurately.

Significance to policymakers: GHG emissions on a project-level basis are important to legislators and financial supervisors regulating climate risk because they provide a more accurate picture of a company's emissions profile and the associated risks. This information can inform regulatory decisions, such as setting emissions reduction targets, or implementing policies that incentivize companies to transition away from highcarbon assets. GHG emissions data from specific projects also allow policymakers to more accurately understand the climate risks associated with projects on which citizens and communities depend.



RECOMMENDATION 5 CRITICAL FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES

There are a number of different variables – referred to as critical financial assumptions and estimates – that are used in calculating key financial indicators that make up a company's financial outlook. According to Carbon Tracker, "climate-related matters such as declining demand for oil and gas, the switch to renewable energy for power, regulations to limit emissions, and the phase out of internal combustion engines can directly and significantly affect financial statement results." ¹⁷⁰ These variables can greatly impact current financial reporting because many of the figures in the financial statements inherently include estimates and assumptions about the future.

Key assumptions and estimates that are critical for fossil-fuel companies to disclose include the commodity prices used in financial accounting, information about anticipated supply and demand, estimates about the remaining useful lives of assets used in forecasting revenue, variables used in impairment testing and the estimated costs used to calculate asset retirement obligations (AROs). Without this information, it is extremely difficult for stakeholders to interpret and compare reporting made by competitors or properly vet companies' assumptions and estimates to ensure they are in line with external indications.

While accounting standards generally require disclosure of relevant critical estimates and assumptions used in companies' financial accounting, especially when estimates and assumptions are related to material claims, this is not happening in practice on a consistent or standardized basis. A study of 2020 financial statements by Carbon Tracker found that a majority of fossil fuel companies did not disclose the basic quantitative estimates and assumptions that were used to prepare their financial statements.¹⁷¹ This included failure to disclose commodity prices used for asset valuations and impairment testing, and absence of detail about undiscounted estimated costs and other assumptions used to calculate AROs.¹⁷² In some cases where figures were provided, there were inconsistencies between the estimates and assumptions referenced in strategy discussions in management reports and those used in financial statements.173

Significance to investors: Given that the inherent unpredictability of commodity prices, for example, is made even more uncertain due to the prospect of a transition to low-carbon energy sources, this information is essential for investors to be able to adequately evaluate the financial health of oil and gas companies based on publicly available forecasts and investors' assumptions about long-term fossil fuel demand.

> Fossil fuel companies often voluntarily disclose these projections with investors to demonstrate their profitability. However, this information is not provided on a systematic basis and there is no standard format for these disclosures. While companies have often argued that cost information is commercially sensitive, the growing relevance of project viability factors in climate risk assessments means that investors have legitimate and prevailing interests in such information.

• Significance to policymakers:

Information about the financial estimates and assumptions used by a company in its planning is also relevant to policymakers involved in preparing for the energy transition. If a company's plans for a future project are not aligned with realistic price or demand scenarios, for example, it may not be economically feasible, which means it will not be able to generate the projected revenues as anticipated. More broadly, some countries may be behind the private sector in fully appreciating the transition risks associated with their domestic oil and gas industries. Making information publicly available about the assumptions and estimates companies are using in their own accounting can help ensure that governments are aligning their expectations with the risks that companies are flagging to their investors.

As another example, information about companies' AROs – and the estimates and assumptions used to determine them – are relevant to policymakers, especially as undoubtedly some assets will need to be retired earlier than originally planned. Often, companies fail to pay the necessary costs to decommission oil and gas assets, placing the burden on local governments to pay for decommissioning costs. In the US alone, hundreds of billions of dollars will be needed to "close the estimated 3.3 to 4 million active, idle and abandoned but unplugged onshore wells."¹⁷⁴



A majority of fossil fuel companies did not disclose the basic quantitative estimates and assumptions that were used to prepare their financial statements. – Carbon Tracker

RECOMMENDATION 6 PROJECT BREAK-EVEN PRICES

The disclosure of project break-even prices – the price point at which a project is no longer profitable – is critical to enable stakeholders to fully and meaningfully evaluate project profitability (including the risk of stranded assets in a company's asset portfolio) and determine project compatibility with Parisaligned transition pathways and other scenarios.

- ۵ Significance to investors: Oil and gas companies often voluntarily disclose to investors projections of the average longterm commodity prices necessary for specific projects to generate positive financial returns, and this information may be available through third party sources, often at cost. However, this information is not provided on a systematic basis and there is no standard format for these disclosures. Given the inherent unpredictability of commodity prices, making this a standard disclosure for all oil and gas producers would help put all investors on a level playing field in being able to make well-founded estimates about the financial health of oil and gas companies. Standardizing the disclosure of project breakeven prices would improve transparency and allow investors to compare the financial risks and returns associated with different fossil fuel investments.
- Significance to policymakers: Project break-even prices matter to policymakers and financial regulators because they provide valuable information about the financial risks associated with fossil fuel investments, which can inform regulatory and investment decisions and promote greater transparency and accountability in the fossil fuel industry.

By knowing the break-even price for a specific project, policymakers and regulators can assess the potential impact of fluctuations in commodity prices on the financial viability of fossil fuel companies and the broader financial system. Because reduced fossil fuel demand will affect commodity prices, an oil price that could make a project profitable today may not suffice to allow the project to break-even at a later point in the energy transition. Information on the project's breakeven price can also inform decisions about whether to provide financial support to fossil fuel projects or impose regulatory measures to limit emissions and promote low-carbon alternatives. Additionally, project break-even prices can be useful for policymakers to better understand whether public finance is at risk in projects where the government has an equity stake or where a state-owned company is involved.175

RECOMMENDATION 7: PRICE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Price sensitivity is the degree to which the price of a product affects consumers' purchasing behaviors. Generally speaking, this is how demand changes with the change in the cost of products. To show how a company's reserve valuation would perform under different price scenarios, companies should be required to disclose a price sensitivity analysis. Assuming the company also discloses price information and the assumptions on which the reserve estimates are based, a price sensitivity analysis would help all stakeholders assess the feasibility of developing specific reserves and would also provide stakeholders with a better view of the company's analysis of future prices.

Disclosing price sensitivity analyses for oil and gas reserves is currently optional for US publicly-listed companies as part of the SEC's Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting Rule¹⁷⁶ and should be mandated for all companies and required in other jurisdictions. Price sensitivity analysis is also included in the proposed industry-based disclosure requirements for the oil and gas industry as part of the ISSB Exposure Draft on Climate-Related Disclosures.¹⁷⁷

- **Significance to investors:** Price sensitivity analysis provides the market with up-to-date projections on the sensitivity of oil and gas reserves to a range of possible supply and demand scenarios. Investors can use this information to better understand whether developing resources would be profitable under different price scenarios. This information can also be used to identify which oil and gas assets are at risk of potential future stranding.
- Significance to policymakers: For financial regulators and central bankers, price sensitivity analysis is important because it can help them to monitor and manage risks in the financial system. By understanding how changes in price may affect the feasibility of specific projects, regulators can develop appropriate policies to mitigate the risks associated with price fluctuations.



CONCLUSION

The world is currently undergoing a transition to a low-carbon economy in response to the threat of climate change. This transition requires a managed decline of oil and gas production, which will have significant economic, social, and environmental impacts. To support this transition, comprehensive disclosures are needed from the oil and gas industry in particular to inform decision making, protect investors, and facilitate transparent communication between governments, industry stakeholders, and fossil fuel-dependent communities.

Comprehensive details about transition plans, information on oil and gas reserves, and GHG emissions is necessary for informed decision making. Policymakers need this data to develop policies and regulations that support a managed decline of oil and gas production, while investors need detailed climate risk disclosures to assess the financial risks associated with the energy transition. Communities also need this data to understand the potential impacts of oil and gas production on their health and the environment.

As the world transitions to a low-carbon economy, the demand for oil and gas will decrease, and the financial value of oil and gas assets will decline. This decline in value will have significant financial impacts on the oil and gas industry, as well as on the full spectrum of investors who hold oil and gas assets. Therefore, it is essential that oil and gas companies disclose the financial risks associated with a decline in production to protect investors' interests. This disclosure should include information on the potential impacts of climate policies, changes in consumer behavior, and technological advancements on the value of oil and gas assets.

Transparent communication between governments, industry stakeholders, and impacted communities is critical for a successful, well-managed transition to a lowcarbon economy. This communication should include regular updates on the progress of the transition, as well as information on the potential impacts of the transition on different stakeholders. Governments should also engage with industry stakeholders and affected communities to develop policies and regulations that support a just and equitable transition. This communication is essential to build trust and ensure that the transition is inclusive and participatory.

There are multiple initiatives underway to standardize the way that companies report on climate-related financial risks including efforts to produce sector-specific guidance for oil and gas companies. This presents an important opportunity for all extractive industry stakeholders. With the right level of disaggregation, much of this data could be directly used to inform multi-stakeholder dialogue and policymaking at the national level. But important challenges remain. Sustainability reports tend to be global in scope with globally aggregated figures that are difficult to apply to national policy discussions. Moreover, few companies are engaging with stakeholders

48

to discuss the climate risks they face and to ensure that their decision-making is prudent, responds to the urgency of the climate crisis, and aligns with the needs of communities who will be most impacted. Meeting these challenges head on will be critical to ensure that it is not just investors who benefit from these initiatives.

To steward a well-managed decline of oil and gas production and facilitate a smooth energy transition, comprehensive climate risk disclosures are critically needed from the oil and gas sector in particular, given the industry's leading role in contributing to global warming and its specific type of climate-related financial risks, to inform decision making, protect investors, and facilitate transparent communication between governments, industry stakeholders, and communities impacted by extraction. By providing the information recommended in this handbook, we can ensure that the transition to a low-carbon economy is efficient and adequately informed by careful planning and broad stakeholder engagement.

 \mathbf{R}

Comprehensive disclosures are needed from the oil and gas industry in particular to inform decision making, protect investors, and facilitate transparent communication between governments, industry stakeholders, and fossil fueldependent communities



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This handbook was written and edited by PWYP-US' Director Carly Oboth, with substantial research and editing support from PWYP-US' Research Fellow Carolyn House. Additional writing support came from: Michelle Harrison and Chris Ewell, EarthRights International; Tim Hirschel-Burns, Aubrey Menard, and Daniel Mulé, Oxfam; Eren Can Ileri, The Sunrise Project; John Kostyack, Kostyack Strategies; and Laura Peterson, Union of Concerned Scientists.

We'd also like to thank the following colleagues who reviewed drafts of the handbook and provided valuable feedback: Joe Bardwell, Publish What You Pay Secretariat; Paul Bugala, Othello Advisors; Claudia Campero, Fossil Fuel Non-Proliferation Treaty; Mike Coffin, Carbon Tracker; Stephen Greenslade, ARO Working Group; Michelle Harrison and Chris Ewell, EarthRights International; Tim Hirschel-Burns, Aubrey Menard, and Daniel Mulé, Oxfam; Eren Can Ileri, and Kathleen Brophy, The Sunrise Project; Joe Kraus, The ONE Campaign; John Kostyack, Kostyack Strategies; Jessica Obeid, Middle East Institute; Laura Peterson, Union of Concerned Scientists; Rob Pitman, Natural Resource Governance Institute; Vladimir Proaño and Tracey Cameron, Ceres; and Simon Taylor, Global Witness.

Our work was inspired by and is heavily based on a fact sheet written in July 2022 by Rob Pitman, Natural Resource Governance Institute; Kathleen Brophy, The Sunrise Project; and John Kostyack, Kostyack Strategies; with substantial input from Paul Bugala, Othello Advisors; Jeremy Fisher, Sierra Club; and Rob Schuwerk, Carbon Tracker.

NOTE: Contributions to this handbook do not constitute explicit organizational endorsements.

About PWYP-US

Publish What You Pay (PWYP) is a global civil society coalition made up of over 1000 organizations operating in more than 70 countries. The US coalition (PWYP-US) was founded in 2004 and consists of 40 anticorruption, financial transparency, anti-poverty, tax justice, environmental, faith-based, and human rights organizations representing over five million constituents across the US. PWYP-US members have almost two decades of experience advocating for greater financial transparency and good governance in the oil, gas, and mining sectors, including specific experience with SEC rulemaking on payment transparency.

For almost two decades, PWYP-US has brought together a broad range of experts in pushing forward reforms that have increased transparency in the extractives sector. From exposing and deterring corrupt oil deals, to advocating for and defending disclosures of payments to governments, demanding extractives contract transparency, and advocating for disclosure of climate-related financial risk, PWYP-US has continued to evolve as a leader in advocating for good governance in the extractive industries and fighting for meaningful accountability.

The Publish Your Plans handbook was written primarily to harness the collective expertise from the PWYP-US coalition to inform advocates about the climate-related financial risks associated with the oil and gas sector. This handbook explains why enhanced disclosures are essential to limit global warming and to ensure a well-managed transition.

Endnotes

- 1 IPCC, "Climate Change 2023," Synthesis Report of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), Summary for Policymakers, 2023, pp. 8-9, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/
- In 2022 major news outlets including the New York Times reported on leaked emails from ongoing congressional investigations into the oil and gas industry. The reporting reveals that internal communications undermined purported climate action within major oil and gas firms, including Exxon, Shell and Chevron. See for example Gabbatiss, Josh, "Oil Majors 'Not Walking the Talk' on Climate Action, Study Confirms," Carbon Brief. February 16, 2022, https://www.carbonbrief.org/oil-majors-not-walking-the-talk-on-climate-action-study-confirms/; see also Tabuchi, Hiroko, "Oil Executives Privately Contradicted Public Statements on Climate, Files Show," The New York Times, September 14, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/14/climate/oil-industry-documents-disinformation. html; see also Hernandez, Joe. "Accusations of 'greenwashing' by Big Oil Companies Are Well-Founded, a New Study Finds." NPR, February 16, 2022, https://www.npr.org/2022/02/16/1081119920/greenwashing-oil-companies
- 3 Gabbatiss, Josh, "Oil Majors 'Not Walking the Talk' on Climate Action, Study Confirms," Carbon Brief. February 16, 2022, https://www.carbonbrief.org/oil-majors-not-walking-the-talk-on-climate-action-study-confirms/
- 4 Carbon Tracker, "Still Flying Blind: The Absence of Climate Risk in Financial Reporting," October 6, 2022, pg. 9, https://carbontracker.org/reports/still-flying-blind-the-absence-of-climate-risk-in-financial-reporting/
- 5 Carbon Tracker, "Absolute Impact 2022: Why Oil and Gas Companies need Credible Plans to meet Climate Targets," Analyst Note, May 2022, pg. 12, https://carbontracker.org/reports/absolute-impact-2022/
- 6 Throughout this handbook, any references to the oil and gas sector, unless otherwise specified, is specific to upstream oil and gas company operations, as oil and gas production is most closely linked to increasing global heating.
- 7 In the context of this handbook, climate risk refers to the financial risks associated with climate change, unless otherwise specified. These risks include the financial costs associated with the physical impacts of climate change, asset stranding, and misleading investors, policymakers and civil society.
- 8 IEA, "Global Energy Crisis Topics," https://www.iea.org/topics/global-energy-crisis
- 9 Birol, Dr. Fatih, "Where things stand in the global energy crisis one year on," IEA, February 23, 2023, https://www.iea. org/commentaries/where-things-stand-in-the-global-energy-crisis-one-year-on
- 10 Mcfarlane, Sarah, and Mark John. "Analysis: When It Comes to Oil, the Global Economy Is Still Hooked." Reuters, March 25, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/when-it-comes-oil-global-economy-is-stillhooked-2022-03-25/
- 11 Carbon Tracker, "Beyond Petrostates: The burning need to cut oil independence in the energy transition," February 11, 2021, pg. 6, https://carbontracker.org/reports/petrostates-energy-transition-report/
- 12 Id. at pg. 36.
- 13 See for example Carbon Tracker, "Still Flying Blind: The Absence of Climate Risk in Financial Reporting," October 6, 2022, pg. 9, https://carbontracker.org/reports/still-flying-blind-the-absence-of-climate-risk-in-financial-reporting/
- 14 These recommendations were developed by PWYP-US' Oil and Gas Climate Risk Working Group, which includes members from Carbon Tracker, the Sunrise Project, Natural Resource Governance Institute, Oxfam America, Sierra Club, Union of Concerned Scientists, EarthRights International, and a number of independent experts.
- 15 "Human activities, principally through emissions of greenhouse gases, have unequivocally caused global warming, with global surface temperature reaching 1.1°C above 1850–1900 in 2011–2020." IPCC, "Climate Change 2023," Synthesis Report of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), Summary for Policymakers, 2023, pg. 4, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/
- 16 UNFCCC, "The Paris Agreement," https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement
- 17 Levin, Kelly, "Half a Degree and a World Apart: The Difference in Climate Impacts between 1.5°C and 2°C of Warming," World Resources Institute, October 7, 2018, https://www.wri.org/insights/half-degree-and-world-apartdifference-climate-impacts-between-15c-and-2c-warming
- 18 IPCC, "Climate Change 2023," Synthesis Report of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), Summary for Policymakers, 2023, pg. 28, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/
- Hausfather, Zeke, "Analysis: What the new IPCC report says about when world may pass 1.5°C and 2°C," October 8, 2021, https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-what-the-new-ipcc-report-says-about-when-world-may-pass-1-5c-and-2c/
- 20 IPCC, "Climate Change 2023," Synthesis Report of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), Summary for Policymakers, 2023, pg. 10, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/
- 21 Global Carbon Project, "Global Carbon Budget 2022," November 11, 2022, https://www.globalcarbonproject.org/ carbonbudget/22/files/GCP_CarbonBudget_2022.pdf
- 22 US EPA, "Overview of Greenhouse Gases," https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/overview-greenhouse-gases

- Fossil fuel combustion (burning) for energy accounted for 74 percent of total U.S. GHG emissions and for 92 percent of total U.S. anthropogenic CO2 emissions. US EIA, "Energy and the environment explained: Where greenhouse gases come from," https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/energy-and-the-environment/where-greenhouse-gases-come-from.php; see also Ekwurzel, B., J. Boneham, et al., "The rise in global atmospheric CO2, surface temperature, and sea level from emissions traced to major carbon producers," Climatic Change 144, September 7, 2017, pp. 579-590, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-1978-0
- 24 Raval, Anjli, "New BP boss Bernard Looney pledges net zero carbon emissions by 2050", Financial Times, February 12, 2020, https://www.ft.com/content/e1ee8ab4-4d89-11ea-95a0-43d18ec715f5
- Franta, Benjamin, "What Big Oil knew about climate change in 1959," Greenbiz, November 3, 2021, https://www. greenbiz.com/article/what-big-oil-knew-about-climate-change-1959
- 26 Hittle, Ann-Louise, Massimo Di Odoardo, et al., "Reversal of fortune: Oil and gas prices in a 2-degree world," Wood Mackenzie, April 2021, pg. 12, https://www.woodmac.com/horizons/reversal-of-fortune-oil-and-gas-prices-in-a-2-degree-world/
- 27 Moody's, "Ready or Not? Sector Performance in a Zero-Carbon World," Moody's on Climate, November 8, 2021, pg. 4, https://www.moodys.com/sites/products/ProductAttachments/Moodys_ReadyOrNot.pdf
- 28 Id. at pg. 7
- 29 Eaton, Collin and Sarah McFarlane, "2020 was one of the worst-ever years for oil write-downs," Wall Street Journal, December 27, 2020, https://www.wsj.com/articles/2020-was-one-of-the-worst-ever-years-for-oil-writedowns-11609077600
- 30 IEA, "Electricity Market Report 2023," 2023, pg. 21, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/255e9cba-da84-4681-8c1f-458ca1a3d9ca/ElectricityMarketReport2023.pdf
- 31 IEA, "Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector," May 2021, pg. 18, https://www.iea.org/reports/net zero-by-2050
- 32 IEA, "Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector," May 2021, pg. 18, https://www.iea.org/reports/ net zero-by-2050; see also Hittle, Ann-Louise, Massimo Di Odoardo, et al., "Reversal of fortune: Oil and gas prices in a 2-degree world," Wood Mackenzie, April 2021, pg. 12, https://www.woodmac.com/horizons/reversal-of-fortuneoil-and-gas-prices-in-a-2-degree-world/; see also Rystad Energy, "Slowing down as electric vehicles accelerate, oil demand set to peak at 101.6 million bpd in 2026," April 21, 2021, https://www.rystadenergy.com/newsevents/news/ press-releases/slowing-down-as-electric-vehicles-accelerate-oil-demand-set-to-peak-at-101p6-million-bpd-in-2026/
- 33 PWC, "The world in 2050: The long view: how will the global economic order change by 2050?" February 2017, pg. 21, https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/world-2050/assets/pwc-the-world-in-2050-full-report-feb-2017.pdf
- 34 There was a 92 percent coefficient of determination between global GDP (in current USD) and daily oil demand in million barrels per day from 1965-2020. See for example BP, "Statistical Review of World Energy 2021," July 2021, pg. 4, https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/ statistical-review/bp-stats -review-2021-full-report.pdf
- 35 IEA, "World Energy Outlook 2022," November 2022, pg. 30, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/830fe099-5530-48f2-a7c1-11f35d510983/WorldEnergyOutlook2022.pdf
- 36 BP, "Oil demand falls over the outlook as use in road transportation declines," January 30, 2023, https://www. bp.com/en/global/corporate/energy-economics/energy-outlook/oil.html
- 37 Nagle, Peter, "The Oil market Outlook: Lasting Scars from the Pandemic," World Bank Data Blog, October 27, 2020, https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/oil-market-outlook-lasting-scars-pandemic; see also Lewis, Mark, "Big Oil: Staring down the barrel of an uncertain future, BNP Paribas Investors Corner," June 16, 2020, https://investorscorner.bnpparibas-am.com/investing/big-oil-staring-down-the-barrel-of-an-uncertain-future/
- 38 IEA, "World Energy Outlook 2022," November 2022, pg. 233, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/830fe099-5530-48f2-a7c1-11f35d510983/WorldEnergyOutlook2022.pdf
- 39 Bousso, Ron, "Big Oil Doubles Profits in Blockbuster 2022," Reuters, February 8, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/ business/energy/big-oil-doubles-profits-blockbuster-2022-2023-02-08/.
- 40 IEA, "Oil Market Report January 2023," January 2023, pg. 6, https://www.iea.org/reports/oil-market-reportjanuary-2023.
- 41 IEA, "An Updated Roadmap to Net Zero Emissions by 2050," https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energyoutlook-2022/an-updated-roadmap-to-net-zero-emissions-by-2050
- 42 Zeniewski, Peter, Gergely Molnar, and Paul Hughes, "Europe's energy crisis: What factors drove the record fall in natural gas demand in 2022?", IEA, https://www.iea.org/commentaries/europe-s-energy-crisis-what-factors-drovethe-record-fall-in-natural-gas-demand-in-2022
- 43 Kaiser, Mark J., and Yunke Yu, "Oil and gas company valuation, reserves, and production," Oil & Gas Journal, February 1, 2012, https://www.ogj.com/home/article/17293855/part-1-oil-and-gas-company-valuation-reservesand-production

- 44 Yergin, Daniel, Ph.D, and Elena Pravettoni, "Do investments in oil and gas constitute systemic risk?" IHS Markit, October 26, 2016, https://ihsmarkit.com/research-analysis/do-investments-in-oil-and-gas-constitute-systemic-risk. html
- 45 Society of Petroleum Engineers, "Glossary of Terms Used in Petroleum Reserves/Resources Definitions," https:// www.spe.org/en/industry/terms-used-petroleum-reserves-resource-definitions/
- 46 Id.
- 47 Id.
- 48 Arnott, Rob, "Oil and Gas Reserves: Communication with the Financial Sector," Chatham House, October 2004, https://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/ SP180ilandGasReservesCommunicationwiththe FinancialSector-RArnott-2004.pdf
- 49 Amadeo, Kimberly, "What Affects Oil Prices?" The Balance, May 9, 2022, https://www.thebalancemoney.com/howare-oil-prices-determined-3305650
- 50 Global Registry of Fossil Fuels, https://fossilfuelregistry.org/
- 51 Ceres, "Lifting the Veil: Investor Expectations for Paris-Aligned Financial Reporting at Oil and Gas Companies," June 17, 2021, pg. 5, https://www.ceres.org/resources/reports/lifting-veil-investor-expectations-paris-aligned-financialreporting-oil-and-gas
- 52 Schay, Alexander and Paul Bugala, "A Demanding Change: Oil & Gas in 2050," WK Associates, March 22, 2022, pp. 24-29, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-10-22/s71022-20129438-295567.pdf
- 53 Atanasova, Christina, "Stranded Fossil Fuel Reserves and Firm Value," National Bureau of Economic Research, November 2019. https://www.nber.org/system/files/working_papers/w26497/revisions/w26497.rev0.pdf
- 54 IPCC, "Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change," Contribution of Working Group III to Fifth Assessment Report (AR5), Annex II: Metrics and Methodology, pg. 1296, https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ ipcc_wg3_ar5_annex-ii.pdf
- 55 Schay, Alexander and Paul Bugala, "A Demanding Change: Oil & Gas in 2050," WK Associates, March 22, 2022, pp. 24-29, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-10-22/s71022-20129438-295567.pdf
- 56 Global Witness, "IPCC clarion call puts spotlight on fossil fuel industry's hypocrisy," April 12, 2022, https://www. globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/fossil-gas/ipcc-clarion-call-puts-spotlight-on-fossil-fuel-industrys-hypocrisy
- 57 UNEP, "Emissions Gap Report 2022," October 27, 2022, pg. xvi, https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gapreport-2022
- 58 Id.
- 59 Schay, Alexander and Paul Bugala, "A Demanding Change: Oil & Gas in 2050," WK Associates, March 22, 2022, pp. 24-29, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-10-22/s71022-20129438-295567.pdf
- 60 S&P Global, "S&P Oil & Gas Exploration & Production Select Industry Index," https://www.spglobal.com/spdji/en/ indices/equity/sp-oil-gas-exploration-production-select-industry-index/#overview
- 61 Schay, Alexander and Paul Bugala, "A Demanding Change: Oil & Gas in 2050," WK Associates, March 22, 2022, pp. 24-29, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-10-22/s71022-20129438-295567.pdf
- 62 Id.
- 63 Reed, Stanley, "BP, in a Reversal, Says It Will Produce More Oil and Gas," The New York Times, February 7, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/02/07/business/bp-oil-gas-profits.html
- 64 Hiltzik, Michael, "Column: Big oil companies are already reneging on their global warming promises," Los Angeles Times, February 9, 2023, https://www.latimes.com/business/story/2023-02-09/the-big-oil-companies-are-alreadyreneging-on-their-global-warming-goals
- 65 Payne, Amanda, "ARO (Asset Retirement Obligation) Example for Oil and Gas Industry," Material Accounting, November 11, 2021, https://materialaccounting.com/article/asset-retirement-obligation-aro-accounting-exampleoil-and-gas/
- 66 Id.
- 67 In 2020, North American and European oil and gas companies wrote down \$145 billion combined, or roughly 10 percent of the companies' collective total market value, in the first quarter of 2020 alone because of uncertainty over future. Eaton, Collin and Sarah McFarlane, "2020 Was One of the Worst-Ever Years for Oil Write-Downs," Wall Street Journal, December 27, 2020, https://www.wsj.com/articles/2020-was-one-of-the-worst-ever-years-for-oil-write-downs-11609077600
- 68 Ross, Samantha, "The Role of Accounting and Auditing in Addressing Climate Change," Center for American Progress, March 1, 2021, pg. 11, https://americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ AccountingAssurance-report.pdf?_ga=2.81267604.2082020652.1646253388-519521499.1646253387
- 69 Carbon Tracker, "It's Closing Time: The Huge Bill to Abandon Oilfields Comes Early," June 18, 2020, pg. 8, https:// carbontracker.org/reports/its-closing-time/
- 70 Carbon Tracker, "Billion Dollar Orphans: Why Millions of Oil and Gas Wells Could Become Wards of the State," October 1, 2020, pg. 10, https://carbontracker.org/reports/billion-dollar-orphans/
- 71 Carbon Tracker, "It's Closing Time: The Huge Bill to Abandon Oilfields Comes Early," June 18, 2020, pg. 6, https:// carbontracker.org/reports/its-closing-time/

- 72 Payne, Amanda, "ARO (Asset Retirement Obligation) Example for Oil and Gas Industry," Material Accounting, November 11, 2021, https://materialaccounting.com/article/asset-retirement-obligation-aro-accounting-exampleoil-and-gas/
- 73 Id.
- 74 Corporate Finance Institute, "Asset Retirement Obligation," December 27, 2022, https://corporatefinanceinstitute. com/resources/accounting/asset-retirement-obligation-aro/
- 75 Carbon Tracker, "It's Closing Time: The Huge Bill to Abandon Oilfields Comes Early," June 18, 2020, pg. 37, https:// carbontracker.org/reports/its-closing-time/
- 76 LaPorte CPAs & Business Advisors, "A refresher on asset retirement obligations," March 31, 2016, https://laporte. com/knowledgecenter/energy/a-refresher-on-asset-retirement-obligations
- 77 Carbon Tracker, "It's Closing Time: The Huge Bill to Abandon Oilfields Comes Early," June 18, 2020, pg. 37, https:// carbontracker.org/reports/its-closing-time/
- 78 As You Sow, "Kinder Morgan Inc: Report Climate Impacts on Asset Retirement Obligations," December 2, 2022, https://www.asyousow.org/resolutions/2022/12/2-kinder-morgan-report-climate-impacts-asset-retirementobligations
- 79 Rogers, Greg, "Accounting for climate change: from scenario analysis to fraud in three easy steps," Responsible Investor, October 25, 2019, https://www.responsible-investor.com/gr-af/
- 80 Finance Watch, "A Safer Transition for Fossil Banking: Quantifying capital needed to reflect transition risk," October 3, 2022, pg. 9, https://www.finance-watch.org/publication/a-safer-transition-for-fossil-banking/
- 81 Gallo, Amy, "A Refresher on Internal Rate of Return," Harvard Business Review, March 17, 2016, https://hbr. org/2016/03/a-refresher-on-internal-rate-of-return
- 82 Carbon Tracker, "Exchanges carrying 3 times more carbon reserves than can be burned under Paris," June 23, 2022, https://carbontracker.org/stock-exchanges-carrying-3-times-more-reserves-than-can-be-burned-under-paris/
- 83 Society of Petroleum Engineers, "Glossary of Terms Used in Petroleum Reserves/Resources Definitions," https:// www.spe.org/en/industry/terms-used-petroleum-reserves-resource-definitions/
- 84 Carbon Tracker, "Reporting for a secure climate: A model disclosure for upstream oil and gas," May 3, 2019, pg. 9, https://carbontracker.org/reports/reporting-for-a-secure-climate-a-model-disclosure-for-upstream-oil-and-gas/
- 85 EITI, "Project-level reporting Guidance note 29 Requirement 4.7," January 2020, pg. 3, https://eiti.org/sites/default/ files/2022-01/en_eiti_gn_4.7.pdf
- Although the US SEC originally used this same definition in its 2016 payment transparency rule, it subsequently adopted a different definition that is unprecedented in the industry, using the project's major subnational political jurisdiction is its key defining feature. SEC, "Release No. 34-90679; File No. S7-24-19 Disclosure of Payments by Resource Extraction Issuers," Final Rule, March 16, 2021, pp. 17-18, https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2020/34-90679.pdf. This makes the SEC an outlier; this definition, which is used nowhere else, is even at odds with how other SEC regulations define projects, and it has been widely condemned as illogical, unworkable, and inconsistent with industry standards and international consensus. See for example Brophy, Kathleen, PWYP-US Comment to the SEC RE: File Number S7-24-19 Proposed Rule 13q-1 to implement Section 1504 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act," March 16, 2020, pg. 11-12, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-24-19/s72419-6961610-212816.pdf
- 87 Brophy, Kathleen, PWYP-US Comment to the SEC RE: File Number S7-24-19 Proposed Rule 13q-1 to implement Section 1504 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act," March 16, 2020, pp. 1-2, 11-12, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-24-19/s72419-6961610-212816.pdf
- 88 Semieniuk, Gregor, Philip B. Holden, Jean-Francois, et al., "Stranded fossil-fuel assets translate to major losses for investors in advanced economies." Natural Climate Change, May 26, 2022, pg. 1, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-022-01356-y
- 89 Statista, "Global GDP 1985-2027," https://www.statista.com/statistics/268750/global-gross-domestic-product-gdp/
- 90 Semieniuk, Gregor, Philip B. Holden, Jean-Francois, et al., "Stranded fossil-fuel assets translate to major losses for investors in advanced economies." Natural Climate Change, May 26, 2022, pg. 3, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-022-01356-y
- 91 Id.
- 92 Id. at pg. 3-4
- 93 Id. at pg. 1
- 94 Erickson, P., M. Lazarus, and K. Tempest, "Carbon lock-in from fossil fuel supply infrastructure." Stockholm Environment Institute, "January 1, 2015, pg. 1, http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep02768
- 95 Saha, Devashree, Ginette Walls, David Waskow, and Leah Lazer. "Just Transitions in the Oil and Gas Sector," January 2023. https://publications.wri.org/r390a1301
- 96 Auth, Katie, Jacob Kincer, and Mark Thurbur, "Untangling 'Stranded Assets' and 'Carbon Lock-In," Energy For Growth Hub, August 17, 2022, https://www.energyforgrowth.org/memo/untangling-stranded-assets-and-carbon-lock-in/
- 97 De Silva, Sanjali "Congressional Report Reveals Fossil Fuel Deception," Union of Concerned Scientists, December 9, 2022, https://www.ucsusa.org/about/news/congressional-report-reveals-fossil-fuel-deception

- 98 Rajgopal, Shivaram, "The Need For Climate Risk Disclosures: A Case Study Of Physical Risk Of Two REITS, EQR And ARE," Forbes, March 24, 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/shivaramrajgopal/2023/03/22/the-need-for-climate-risk-disclosures-a-case-study-of-physical-risk-of-two-reits-eqr-and-are/
- 99 Bullard, Nathaniel, "Clean Energy, Fossil Fuel Investment Tied for First Time in 2022," Bloomberg, January 26, 2023 https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-01-26/clean-energy-fossil-fuel-investment-tied-for-first-time-in-2022#xj4y7vzkg; see also Shine, Ian, "Spending on Low-Carbon Energy Technology Is on the Brink of Overtaking Fossil Fuels. These 4 Charts Tell the Full Story," World Economic Forum, February 20, 2023, https://www.weforum. org/agenda/2023/02/low-carbon-investment-record-2022/
- 100 SEC, "The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors," Proposed Rule, April 11, 2022, pg. 21, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/04/11/2022-06342/the-enhancement-andstandardization-of-climate-related-disclosures-for-investors
- 101 Id.
- 102 Carbon Tracker, "Still Flying Blind: The Absence of Climate Risk in Financial Reporting," October 6, 2022, pg. 6, https://carbontracker.org/reports/still-flying-blind-the-absence-of-climate-risk-in-financial-reporting/
- 103 Id.
- 104 Hernandez, Joe, "Accusations of 'greenwashing' by Big Oil Companies Are Well-Founded, a New Study Finds," NPR, February 16, 2022, https://www.npr.org/2022/02/16/1081119920/greenwashing-oil-companies
- 105 Gurgel, Angelo, "Carbon Offsets," MIT Climate Portal, https://climate.mit.edu/explainers/carbon-offsets
- 106 Carbon Offset Guide, "What Is a Carbon Offset?," https://www.offsetguide.org/understanding-carbon-offsets/whatis-a-carbon-offset/
- 107 Rathi, Akshat, Natasha White, and Demetrios Pogkas Green, "Big Companies Claim 'Carbon Neutrality' Using Junk Carbon Offsets," Bloomberg, November 21, 2022, https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2022-carbon-offsetsrenewable-energy/
- 108 Id.
- 109 Greenfield, Patrick, "Revealed: More than 90% of Rainforest Carbon Offsets by Biggest Certifier Are Worthless, Analysis Shows," The Guardian, January 18, 2023, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2023/jan/18/ revealed-forest-carbon-offsets-biggest-provider-worthless-verra-aoe
- 110 Morgan, Jennifer, "Greenpeace: Why Carbon Offsetting Doesn't Cut It," World Economic Forum, Sustainable Development Impact Summit, September 22, 2021, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/09/greenpeaceinternational-carbon-offsetting-net-zero-pledges-climate-change-action/
- 111 Sen, Aditi, and Nafkote Dabi.,"Tightening the Net: Net Zero Climate Targets Implications for Land and Food Equity," Oxfam, August 3, 2021, pg. 7, https://doi.org/10.21201/2021.7796
- 112 Id.
- 113 UNFCCC, "Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)," https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-parisagreement/nationally-determined-contributions-ndcs
- 114 UNEP-CCC, "Increased Transparency and Documentation of Private Sector Contributions to NDCs," https://unepccc. org/project/nexus/
- 115 See for example Oil Change International, "Big Oil Reality Check: Updated Assessment of Oil and Gas Company Climate Plans," May 24, 2022, https://priceofoil.org/2022/05/24/big-oil-reality-check-2022/
- 116 TCFD, "Guidance on Metrics, Targets, and Transition Plans," October 2021, pg. 39, https://assets.bbhub.io/company/ sites/60/2021/07/2021-Metrics_Targets_Guidance-1.pdf
- 117 Carbon Tracker, "Absolute Impact 2022: Why Oil and Gas Companies need Credible Plans to meet Climate Targets," Analyst Note, May 2022, pg. 2, https://carbontracker.org/reports/absolute-impact-2022/
- Shell, "Shell Energy Transition Strategy," 2021, https://www.shell.com/energy-and-innovation/the-energy-future/ shell-energy-transitionstrategy/_jcr_content/root/main/section_1679944581/simple/promo/links/item0. stream/1651509559757/7c3d5b317351891d2383b3e9f1e511997e516639/shell-energy-transition-strategy-2021. pdf; see also BP, "Net Zero: From Ambition to Action," March 2022, https://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/ news-and-insights/press-releases/bernard-looney-announces-new-ambition-for-bp.html; see also ENI,"Eni's strategy on climate change," December 22, 2021, https:// www.eni.com/en-IT/low-carbon/strategy-climate-change. html; see also Equinor, "2021 Sustainability Report," March 18, 2022, https://www.equinor.com/news/20220318annual-sustainability-reports-2021; see also Repsol, "Net Zero Emissions by 2050: Path Towards Decarbonization," https://www.repsol.com/en/sustainability/climate-change/net-zero-emissions-2050/index.cshtml; see also TotalEnergies, "Getting to Net Zero," September 2020, https:// totalenergies.com/sites/g/files/nytnzq121/files/ documents/2020-10/ total-climate-report-2020.pdf
- 119 Oil Change International, "Big Oil Reality Check: Updated Assessment of Oil and Gas Company Climate Plans," May 24, 2022, pp. 16-23, https://priceofoil.org/2022/05/24/big-oil-reality-check-2022/
- 120 Wood Mackenzie, "Few oil and gas companies commit to Scope 3 net zero emissions as significant challenges remain," October 28, 2022, https://www.woodmac.com/press-releases/few-oil-and-gas-companies-commit-to-scope-3-net-zero-emissions-as-significant-challenges-remain/

- 121 Greenpeace, "Bilan Carbone de TotalEnergies: Le Compte N'Y est pas," [report in French], November 2022, https:// cdn.greenpeace.fr/site/uploads/2022/11/Rapport-Greenpeace_Bilan-carbone-Total_VDEF.pdf
- 122 GHG Protocol, "The GHG Protocol for Project Accounting," https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/ ghg_project_accounting.pdf
- 123 GHG Protocol, "Greenhouse Gas Protocol," https://ghgprotocol.org/
- 124 World Business Council for Sustainable Development, and World Resources Institute, "The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard," Revised edition, 2004r, https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/ default/files/standards/ghg-protocol-revised.pdf
- 125 Wood Mackenzie, "Few oil and gas companies commit to Scope 3 net zero emissions as significant challenges remain," October 28, 2022, https://www.woodmac.com/press-releases/few-oil-and-gas-companies-commit-to-scope-3-net-zero-emissions-as-significant-challenges-remain/
- 126 Carbon Tracker uses emissions mitigation technologies to refer to carbon capture, utilization and storage as well as negative emissions technologies. Carbon Tracker, "Absolute Impact 2022: Why Oil and Gas Companies need Credible Plans to meet Climate Targets," Analyst Note, May 2022, pg. 5, https://carbontracker.org/reports/absoluteimpact-2022/
- 127 See Appendix A for examples. Cushing, Ben, David Arkush, Alex Martin, and John Kostyack, Letter to the SEC Re: Offsets Disclosures in Climate Risk Disclosure Rule, February 10, 2022, pp. 6-7, https://www.sec.gov/comments/ climate-disclosure/cll12-20115318-267372.pdf
- 128 Carbon Tracker, "Absolute Impact 2022: Why Oil and Gas Companies need Credible Plans to meet Climate Targets," Analyst Note, May 2022, pg. 11, https://carbontracker.org/reports/absolute-impact-2022/
- 129 Sen, Aditi, and Nafkote Dabi, "Tightening the Net: Net Zero Climate Targets Implications for Land and Food Equity," Oxfam, August 3, 2021, pg 7, https://doi.org/10.21201/2021.7796
- 130 Freitas Netto, Sebastião Vieira de, Marcos Felipe Falcão Sobral, Ana Regina Bezerra Ribeiro, and Gleibson Robert da Luz Soares, "Concepts and Forms of Greenwashing: A Systematic Review." Environmental Sciences Europe 32, no. 1, February 11, 2020, pg. 19, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-020-0300-3
- 131 Collins, Shawn and Lisa M. Northrup, "The Legal Risks of Greenwashing Are Real," Bloomberg Law, July 25, 2022, https://news.bloomberglaw.com/environment-and-energy/the-legal-risks-of-greenwashing-are-real
- 132 Degot, Charlotte, Rich Hitchinson, Sylvain Duranton, Mike Lyons, and Hamid Maher, "Use AI to Measure Emissions— Exhaustively, Accurately, and Frequently," Boston Consulting Group, October 13, 2021, https://www.bcg.com/ publications/2021/measuring-emissions-accurately
- 133 Freitas Netto, Sebastião Vieira de, Marcos Felipe Falcão Sobral, Ana Regina Bezerra Ribeiro, and Gleibson Robert da Luz Soares. "Concepts and Forms of Greenwashing: A Systematic Review." Environmental Sciences Europe 32, no. 1, February 11, 2020, pg. 19, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-020-0300-3
- 134 "COP27: 'Zero Tolerance for Greenwashing', Guterres Says as New Report Cracks down on Empty Net zero Pledges," UN News, November 8, 2022, https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/11/1130317
- 135 Global Witness, "Historic profits for Shell whilst ordinary Brits suffer," February 2, 2023, https://www.globalwitness. org/en/press-releases/historic-profits-shell-whilst-ordinary-brits-suffer/
- 136 TCFD, "About," https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/about/
- 137 Whitaker, James, Libby Reynolds, et al., "TCFD Recommendations: An Update on Climate Disclosures," Eye on ESG, September 22, 2021, https://www.eyeonesg.com/2021/09/tcfd-recommendations-an-update-onclimate-disclosures/; see also list of investor letters that encourage reporting on climate risk information in line with the TCFD at SEC, "The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors," Proposed Rule, April 11, 2022, pp. 25-26, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/04/11/2022-06342/ the-enhancement-and-standardization-of-climate-related-disclosures-for-investors https://www.sec.gov/rules/ proposed/2022/33-11042.pdf
- 138 TCDF, "About," https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/about/
- 139 TCFD, "TCFD Recommendations," https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/recommendations/
- 140 Greenhouse Gas Protocol, "About Us," https://ghgprotocol.org/about-us
- 141 GHG Protocol, "Companies and Organizations," https://ghgprotocol.org/companies-and-organizations
- 142 EITI, https://eiti.org/
- 143 The IFRS is used in over 160 countries, with some applying limited modifications. IFRS, "Analysing the use of IFRS Accounting Standards," https://www.ifrs.org/use-around-the-world/use-of-ifrs-standards-by-jurisdiction/#analysis-of-use-of-ifrs-accounting-standards-around-the-world
- 144 IFRS, "Effects of climate related matters on financial statements," November 2020, pg.1, https://www.ifrs.org/ content/dam/ifrs/supporting-implementation/documents/effects-of-climate-related-matters-on-financialstatements.pdf
- 145 FASB, "Intersection of Environmental, Social, and Governance Matters with Financial Accounting Standards," FASB Staff Education Paper, March 19, 2021, pg. 3, https://www.fasb.org/page/ShowPdf?path=FASB_Staff_ESG_ Educational_Paper_FINAL.pdf&title=FASB%20Staff%20Educational%20Paper-Intersection%20of%20Environmental

- 146 IFRS, "IFRS Foundation Trustees announce strategic direction and further steps based on feedback to sustainability reporting consultation," March 8, 2021, https://www.ifrs.org/news-and-events/news/2021/03/trustees-announce-strategic-direction-based-on-feedback-to-sustainability-reporting-consultation/
- 147 Id.
- 148 IFRS, "Exposure Draft IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standard," [Draft] IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures Appendix B Industry-based disclosure requirements, Volume B11 – Oil & Gas-Exploration & Production," March 2022, pp. 90-92, https://www.ifrs.org/content/dam/ifrs/project/climate-related-disclosures/industry/issb-exposure-draft-2022-2b11-oil-and-gas-exploration-and-production.pdf
- 149 SEC, "The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors," Proposed Rule, April 11, 2022, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/04/11/2022-06342/the-enhancement-and-standardization-of-climate-related-disclosures-for-investors
- 150 Id. at pg. 34
- 151 Id. at pg. 40
- 152 SEC, "Comments for The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors, https:// www.sec.gov/comments/s7-10-22/s71022.htm
- 153 European Commission, "Corporate sustainability reporting," https://finance.ec.europa.eu/capital-markets-union-and-financial-markets/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/corporate-sustainability-reporting_en
- 154 CDP, "Q&A: Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive: Comment from CDP Europe on what the CSRD means for companies," May 2021, pg. 3, https://cdn.cdp.net/cdp-production/cms/policy_briefings/documents/000/005/787/ original/02_CSRD_Corporate_Q_A_External_Final.pdf?1623133188
- 155 Lashitew, Addisu, "The coming of age of sustainability disclosure: How do rules differ between the US and the EU?" June 6, 2022, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2022/06/06/the-coming-of-age-of-sustainability-disclosure-how-do-rules-differ-between-the-us-and-the-eu/
- 156 European Commission, "Corporate sustainability reporting," https://finance.ec.europa.eu/capital-markets-union-andfinancial-markets/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/corporate-sustainability-reporting_en
- 157 Australian Treasury, "Climate-related financial disclosure," Consultation paper, December 2022, https://treasury.gov. au/sites/default/files/2022-12/c2022-314397_0.pdf
- 158 IOSCO, "Report on Sustainability-related Issuer Disclosures," Final Report, June 2021, pg. 2, https://www.iosco.org/ library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD678.pdf
- 159 Id.
- 160 In this context, policymakers refers to lawmakers, regulators, and other decision-makers in positions of power.
- 161 TCFD, "Guidance on Metrics, Targets, and Transition Plans, October 2021, pp. 39-40, https://assets.bbhub.io/ company/sites/60/2021/07/2021-Metrics_Targets_Guidance-1.pdf
- 162 Id. at pg. 41
- 163 Id.
- 164 National Whistleblower Center, "Exposing a Ticking Time Bomb: How Fossil Fuel Industry Fraud Is Setting Us Up for a Financial Implosion—and What Whistleblowers Can Do About It," July 2020, https://www.whistleblowers.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/07/NWC-Climate-Risk-Disclosure-Report.pdf
- 165 This methodology is recommended by the US Environmental Protection Agency and the oil industry sustainability association IPIECA and forms the basis for Exxon's Scope 3 emissions disclosures. See US EPA, "Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories," https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-04/documents/ghg-emission-factors-hub.pdf; see also IPIECA, "Estimating petroleum industry value chain (Scope 3) greenhouse gas emissions," Overview of methodologies, https://www.ipieca.org/resources/good-practice/estimating-petroleum-industry-value-chain-scope-3-greenhouse-gas-emissions-overview-of-methodologies/; see also ExxonMobil, "Advancing Climate Solutions Progress Report 2023," 2023, pg. 92, https://corporate.exxonmobil.com/-/media/global/files/advancing-climate-solutions-progress-report.pdf
- 166 TCFD, "Implementing the Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures, June 2017, pg. 55, https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/60/2020/10/FINAL-TCFD-Annex-Amended-121517.pdf
- 167 Wood Mackenzie, "Few oil and gas companies commit to Scope 3 net zero emissions as significant challenges remain," October 28, 2022, https://www.woodmac.com/press-releases/few-oil-and-gas-companies-commit-to-scope-3-net-zero-emissions-as-significant-challenges-remain/
- 168 See materiality analysis of emissions embedded in reserves. Schay, Alexander and Paul Bugala, "A Demanding Change: Oil & Gas in 2050," WK Associates, March 22, 2022, pp. 24-29, https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-10-22/ s71022-20129438-295567.pdf
- 169 Matthews, Christopher M. and Emily Glazer, "Exxon Debates Abandoning Some of Its Biggest Oil and Gas Projects," Wall Street Journal, October 20, 2021, https://www.wsj.com/articles/exxon-debates-abandoning-some-of-itsbiggest-oil-and-gas-projects-11634739779

- 170 Carbon Tracker and PRI, "Flying Blind: The glaring absence of climate risks in financial reporting," September 16, 2021, pg. 2, https://carbontracker.org/reports/flying-blind-the-glaring-absence-of-climate-risks-in-financialreporting/
- 171 Carbon Tracker, "Still Flying Blind: The Absence of Climate Risk in Financial Reporting," October 6, 2022, pg. 6, https://carbontracker.org/reports/still-flying-blind-the-absence-of-climate-risk-in-financial-reporting/
- 172 Id. at pg. 16
- 173 Id. at pg. 34
- 174 Carbon Tracker, "It's Closing Time: The Huge Bill to Abandon Oilfields Comes Early," June 18, 2020, pg. 13, https:// carbontracker.org/reports/its-closing-time/
- 175 NRGI, "Risky Bet: National Oil Companies in the Energy Transition," February 2021, pp.7-11, https:// resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/risky-bet-national-oil-companies-in-the-energy-transition. pdf
- 176 SEC, "Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting," Final Rule, Release Nos. 33-8995; 34-59192; to be codified at 17 CFR parts 210, 211, 229, and 249, December 31, 2008, pg. 66, https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2008/33-8995.pdf
- 177 IFRS, "Exposure Draft IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standard," [Draft] IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures Appendix B Industry-based disclosure requirements, Volume B11 – Oil & Gas-Exploration & Production," March 2022, pp. 103-105, https://www.ifrs.org/content/dam/ifrs/project/climate-related-disclosures/industry/issb-exposure-draft-2022-2-b11-oil-and-gas-exploration-and-production.pdf



Publish What You Pay United States

Website: www.pwypusa.org Email: info@pwypusa.org Twitter: @pwypusa June 2023 Publish What You Pay – United States is a project of the Fund for Constitutional Government